DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 171 777

TH 009 238

AUTHOR Suhorsky, Joseph: Wall, Robert E.

TITLE A Validation Study of the Early Identification and

Intervention Program Screening Instruments: A

Maryland State Dept. of Education, Baltimore.

Longitudinal Study.

INSTITUTION

Aug 78

PUB DATE Au NOTE 10

EDRS PRICE

MF01/PC05 Plus Postage.

DESCRIPTORS *Classroom Cbservation Techniques: *Educational

Diagnosis; *Identification; *Kindergarten Children;

Learning Disabilities; Longitudinal Studies; *Predictive Validity; Primary Education; Reading Difficulty: *Screening Tests; Test Results; Test

Validitv

IDENTIFIERS

Maryland: *Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation

Instrument

ABSTRACT

A longitudinal study was conducted in three Maryland counties to determine the predictive validity of the Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument (MSTOI) and other initial assessment instruments as screening devices to identify kindergarten children with potential reading and/or learning difficulties. The MSTOI was also examined to determine its longitudinal validity as a predictor of children with reading and/or learning problems. Information collected in each county included data on initial tests, follow-up tests, concurrent validity, predictive validity, item analysis, and a discussion of procedures and results. It was determined that the predictive validity of MSTOI compared favorably with other initial assessment instruments. Fredictive validity data on MSTOI war developed and its relationship to student progress and retention was established. Recommendations for further study are suggested. Summary tables for individual counties and combined data, descriptions of assessment instruments, and technical notes are appended. (MH)



A VAIDATION STUDY OF THE EARLY IDENTIFICATION AND INTERVENTION PROGRAM SCREENING INSTRUMENTS

A LONGITUDINAL STUDY

SISSICT TO REPRODUCE THE STATE OF THE STATE

THE ELICATIONAL BY MIREL

renson

US THE ERIC SYSTEM

U.S. DEPARK MENT OF SIX
EDUCATION 4.WELT &
NATION LINSTITUTE OF
EDUCATION

DOCUME THAN BEEN HERWINDLED EXACTLY AS RECE LEDITS M
THE PERSON OF ORGANIZATION DRIVING
LIT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPHICANS
FED DO NOT NECESSARILY BE MADE
OFFICIAL NATIONAL MISSITY TO THE
LATION POSITION OR POLICY

600F

PREPARED FOR THE MARNYLAND STATE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Acknowledgements

The evaluat or consultants would like to take this opportunity to express their appreciation and gratitude to the many individuals was contributeons made this study feasible.

First, we stall attention to the effort and time Ms. Amme Richardson dedicated to the project. Without her initiating efforts, coordinating efforts and rencouraging of the data collectors, the study would not have meen completed. We would like to thank Dr. William Grant for his suggestions and perceptive advice concerning the data analysis and intermediation.

A special note of gratitude to the mary local school personnel who were involved in the process of identifying, locating and testing the students in the follow-up sample.

Finally, a sincere thank you to our typist. Ms. Susan Emphartit, for preparing a neat, egible manuscript

Joseph Suhorsky Evaluation Consultant Rimert E. Wall ExeTuation Consultant

August, 1978



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Introduction	1
Methodology	3
Purpose of the Study	3
Procedure and Sample Description	4
Analysis	6
Results - Queen Anne's County	8
Initial Tests	8
Follow-up Tests	8
Concurrent Validity	9
Predictive Validity	11
Item Analysis	21
Discussion	24
Results - Wicomico County	27
Initial Tests	27
Follow-up Tests	27
Concurrent Validity	28
Predictive Validity	31
Item Analysis	36
Discussion	38
Results - Cecil County	40
Initial Tests	40
Follow-up Study	41
Concurrent Validity	42
Predictive Validity	44
Item Analysis	53



Pa	age
Discussion	5 6
Results - Combined County	58
Concurrent Validity	59
Predictive Validity	61
Item Analysis	64
Discussion	6 8
Summary	7 0
Recommendation for Further Study	7 2
References	74
Appendices	
Appendix A	76
Summary Tables for Individual County and Combined Data	77
Appendix B	93
••	
Description of Assessment Instruments	94
Appendix C	98
Technical Notes	99
Statistical Procedures and Computer Programs	101
Selected Bibliography	102



Introduction

Prior to the introduct on of House Bill 234 in the Maryland State Legis atture, the properties of Education organized a working commence to investigate practical ways for educators to immentive help children with potential learning/reading proplems.

Marylan State Programme of Education efforts, was the development of a broop planto emable the local educational agencies to implement the provisions of Se tran 980, Article 77 of the Annotated Come Maryland. The basic of an developed cooperatively with the local agency of ly Ede diffraction Coordinators, has three components calling for: (1) early screening of all students, (2) administering continuous assessment as students, and (3) developing instructional strategies based on the screening and/or assessment findings.

Program that assessment instruments of good quality were essential to the success of the program. An ideal assessment instrument should a valid, reliable, easy to administer, and easily occred. Since existing evaluative measure possessed all of these characteris to an ideal level, certain compromises would have to be made in the selection of assessment measures. However, program success bulla be enhanced through careful planning of the assessment compenent. Therefore an overall test strategy was developed that required periodic evaluation of the program at different phases in the implementation of the Early Identification Program.



evaluation phase logically and systematicall reviewed a portion of the assessment phase.

In the first phase, an evaluation study was performed that reported upon the development and validation of a systematic teacher observation instrument (975). It was reported that the systematic macher observation instrument was valid and could be user to disminguish between rammal children and special children in the girlegarten and in me grade. An important outcome of this a muation was the establishment of cutoff scores for the systems a teacher observation instrument. A second portion of that st: / reported the development and validation of a parent ir arvive checklist. An arminisis of the data indicated that the parent interview checklist in its present form was not useful for descinguishing between ne all and special children. The final portion of the study ider. Sed and evaluated a number of standestized tests that were useful in identifying normal children end children with potential learning disabilities in the kindergarten and grade one.

In the second phase, several aspects of the assessment portion of the Early Identification Program were examined (2, 1976). First, the reliability of the Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument was determined, using the test-retest procedure. It was concluded that this instrument is reliable across time when used by the same teacher. A second area examined was the validity of a revised Parent Interview Checklist. An analysis of the data indicated that the Parent Interview Checklist was not valid for



evaluation study reported that teachers using the Maryland Systematic Observation Instrument were identifying approximately 40% of the students as high risk students. This figure closely corresponds to the hypothesized figure of 40%. Finally, during this phase, a three year longitudinal study was initiated to determine the predictive validity of the Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument and selected standardized to that were administered to children in the kindergarten.

The two studies above were primarily concerned with the development of an instrument and assessing the instrument's ability to identify special students. The present study was concerned primarily with determining the predictive validity of the MSTOI and the other assessment instruments for population where there had been no intervention based on MSTOI performance.

<u>Methodology</u>

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this longitudinal study was to determine the predictive validity of the Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument and other initial assessment instruments. The study specifically focused on a detailed analysis of the Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument (MSTOI) as a screening measure for identifying kindergarten children with potential reading/learning difficulties and as a predictor of continued identification of these children as having reading/learning problems at a future date.



Procedure and Same e Description

The study was conducted in Queen Anne's County, Wicomico County, and Certil County. These counties were selected on the basis of their amention in the Maryland State Department of Education plan for implementing the Early Identification and Intervention Program. Since these counties were not scheduled to implement the program before the completion of the study, it was possible to assess the predictive validity of the MSTOI in the absence of an intervention program based on diagnostic data.

The MSTOI was administered to all kindergarten children in these counties during the 1974-75 school year. The tests were administered and scored by the kindergarten teachers. In Queen Anne's County, the MSTOI was administered to 309 youngsters along with the Cognitive Skills Assessment Battery (CSAB) and the Class-room Behavior Inventory (CBI). In Wicomico County, the MSTOI was administered to 550 youngsters along with the CSAB and the CBI. In Cecil County, 435 MSTOI evaluations were made along with the administration of the Meeting Street School Screening Test (MSSST) and Self Control Behavior Inventory (SCBI) to 100 individuals. Each of these tests is described in Appendix B.

For the initial assessment instruments, cutoff scores were used to differentiate between those students judged as successful and those identified as having potential reading/learning problems. These cutoff scores were established in phase one of the evaluation program (1, 1975). For the MSTOI, a cutoff score of 139 was established. This score represented an average of the mean scores made by the normal and special groups in the norming sample. Any



student scoring less than 139 was classified as having potential reading/learning problems and subject to further testing. In establishing cutoff scores for the standardized tests used in the initial assessment, the procedure used was slightly different from the procedure used with the MSTOI. Cutoff scores for the CSAB, MSSST, CBI, and SCBI were established by first determining the mean on each test for the high and low sample group. For the low group, one standard deviation was added to the mean; for the high group, one standard deviation was subtracted from the mean. The higher of these two scores was established as the cutoff score. Using this procedure, the cutoff scores established were: 128 for the Cognitive Skills Assessment Battery, 58 for the Meeting Street School Screening Test, 32 for the Classroom Behavior Inventory, and 15 for the Self Control Behavior Inventory. A student scoring below these cutoff scores was identified as having a potential reading/learning problem.

The previously established cutoff scores were used for classifying students and for comparing performances on the various assessment measures. The criterion scores were conservative, since it was thought to be beneficial to over identify potential problems rather than miss some that might need attention. This rationale was justified on the basis that youngsters so identified were not to be placed until given further testing.

In the Spring of 1977, when the average subject was completing second grade, the follow-up criterion tests were administered to many of these youngsters. The two criterion instruments used were the <u>Pupil Rating Scale</u> (PRS) and the <u>Peabody Individual Achievement</u>



Test (PIAT). The PRS was used by the classroom teachers to evaluate the students. Since the PIAT is an individually administered test, one examiner in the county administered and scored the test.

Cutoff scores for the PIAT and the PRS were established by the evaluation consultants. A cutoff score of 102 was established for the PIAT and a score of 62 for the PRS. These scores represent a score one standard deviation below the mean of the national norms as supplied by the test publisher. The percentage of youngsters identified in this manner would be the lowest 15% of the national population. The guidelines from the Maryland State Department of Education indicated that approximately 15% of the students would require individualized services (3, 1975). The criterion measures would help to identify a group of comparable size.

<u>Analysis</u>

The data analysis was divided into three stages: (1) determination of concurrent validity, (2) determination of predictive validity, (3) determination of MSTO1 item analysis. Assessment of concurrent validity and predictive validity was done by employing two procedures, each having certain advantages. The use of cutoff scores has practical advantages because it can be used to classify students. With cutoff scores, contingency tables can be developed that enable the calculation of χ^2 to determine the existence of a significant relationship between the groups identified by the two different assessment instruments. After computing the chi-square value, the magnitude of the relationship could be determined by computing phi. A shortcoming of these statistical techniques



is the sensitivity to the cutoff score selected. That is, different values for cutoff scores produce varying values for chi-square and phi. Therefore, it was appropriate to examine the relationship between the two assessment instruments utilizing a procedure free from the shortcoming of the cutoff score. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was selected as an appropriate measure to assess the strength of the relationship between the total test scores as well as the relationship among the various subscores.

In the preliminary stage, the concurrent validity of the MSTOI was determined. Concurrent validity was assessed by determining the contingency coefficients and the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients between the MSTOI and the four other initial assessment instruments. The data in the study made it possible to determine to represent validity with larger samples than had been used in the stage of the MSTOI.

predictive validity of the initial assessment instruments. Chi-square values were determined for each of the five initial assessment instruments using each of the two criterion measures. The reasons for employing two statistical techniques to determine validity are as stated previously.

Further analysis was performed on each MSTOI item to determine its relationship with: (1) the MSTOI total scores, (2) the MSTOI subscores, and (3) the total scores of the criterion tests.

By design, the set of tests used and the sampling procedures employed in each county were different. Results from Queen Anne's County will be presented first followed by Wicomico County and then



Cecil County. Results that are applicable to more than one county then will be reported and discussed.

Results - Queen Anne's County

Initial Tests

A total of 309 MSTOI tests was administered to kindergarten youngsters during the 1974-75 school year. From this group, the total of completed usable test forms was 305. The mean of the total score for the group was 145.13 with a standard deviation of 20.27. An analysis of the individual items for this initial sample is shown in Appendix A in Table A. (All lettered tables appear in Appendix A.)

In addition to the MSTOI, the CSAB was administered to each youngster. As shown in Table B, the mean of the total score was 108.40 and the standard deviation was 17.04.

At approximately the same time, these youngsters were rated using the <u>Classroom Behavior Inventory</u>. Valid observations were obtained on 308 youngsters. As shown in Appendix A, Table C, the mean for the total score was 29.94 with a standard deviation of 7.54.

Follow-up Tests

In the Spring of 1977, two criterion measures, the <u>Peabody Individual Achievement Test</u> (PIAT) and the <u>Pupil Rating Scale</u> (PRS), were administered to a sample of students. Since the PIAT required individual testing, a limited number of children were tested. Children were selected on a random basis and a total of 80 children were tested. The results of this are shown on Table D, Appendix A. The total test mean was 150.79 with a standard deviation of 33.24.

An attempt was made to locate all members of the initial sample and to administer the PRS to them. The classroom teachers rated 230 of the original sample with the PRS. The results are presented in Appendix A,



Table E. The mean of total scores was 74.16 and the standard deviation was 15.99. Values for subscales are also listed in the table.

In order to determine whether the follow-up sample was representative of the initial sample, the initial mean for MSTOI scores was compared to the follow-up MSTOI scores. The mean for the MSTOI follow-up sample was 145.80 with a standard deviation of 20.60. A z-test was performed and it was concluded that there was no significant difference between the initial and follow-up samples on the MSTOI total scores. Means and standard deviations of the MSTOI, CSAB, CBI follow-up samples are shown in Appendix A, Tables F-H.

Concurrent Validity

Utilizing the data from the follow-up sample, the concurrent validity of the MSTOI with the CSAB and the CBI was determined in two ways. Test scores were classified as either above or below the cutoff point for the test. In order to test the relationship between performance on two different tests, a contingency table was then developed. This table showed how many were above the cutoff point on both tests, below the cutoff point, or above on one test and below on the other. This information was than analyzed by the X² technique to test for a significant relationship or degree of association between the two tests. Phi coefficients and Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients were calculated. As shown in Table 1, no student with a MSTOI score of less than 139, scored 128 or greater on the CSAB.



TABLE 1 Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And CSAB Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		CSAB Tota	1 Score	
		128 or Greater	Less than 128	Row Total
139 or Greater	N Row %	24 15	138 85	162
	Col. %	100	68	71%
Less than 139	N David W	0	65 100	65
	Row % Col. %	0	32	29%
Column Total	N . %	24 11	203 89	227 100
Chi-square = 9.2 Phi = .22	6	P < .01		

In Table 2, as in Table 1, the calculated X^2 value indicates that there was a significant degree of association between the MSTOI total scores and the other initial assessment instrument.

TABLE 2 Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And CBI Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		CBI Total Score			
	<u> </u>	32 or Greater	Less than 32	Row Total	
139 or Greater	N	109	5 5	164	
	Row %	67	33		
	Co1. %	94	48	71%	
Less than 139	N	7	59	66	
Less than 105	Row %	11	89		
	Col. %	6	52	29%	
Column Total	N	116	114	230	
COTUBILITY TO CUT	%	50	50	100	



The Pearson Product Momera Correlation Coefficients were determined between the MSTOI and the CSAB and the CBI. Total score and subscale coefficients were significant at the .01 level. These data are shown in Table 3.

TABLE 3

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI And The CSAB And The CBI For The Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample

MSTOI Subscale	CSAB Total N=227	CBI Total N=230
Psychomotor	.69	.65
Language	.73	.70
Sensory/Perception	.71	.66
Cognition	.64	.65
Affect/Motivation	.56	.67
MSTOI Total	.72	.73
		Ollowel

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

The two analyses of the relationship between the MSTOI scores and the two other initial assessment instruments indicate that the MSTOI possesses concurrent validity. Using the MSTOI, teachers can assess the same behaviors assessed with standardized tests, the CSAB and the CBI.

Predictive Validity

The same statistical techniques were used to determine predictive validity as were used to determine concurrent validity. The criterion tests employed were the PIAT and the PRS. Tables 4-7 indicate the degree of relationship between the MSTOI and the criterion measures.



As shown in Table 4, a nonsignificant relationship between the MSTOI score classification and the PIAT score classification was found. It is interesting to note that 95% of the PIAT scores were above the cutoff level.

TABLE 4

Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And PIAT Total Scores (N=80)

MSTOI Total Score		PIAT Tota		
		102 or Greater	Less than 102	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	58	1	59
	Row %	98	2	
	Col. %	76	25	7 4 %
Less than 139	N	18	3	21
Ecss than 103	Row %	86	14	
	Co1. %	24	75	26%
Column Total	N	76	4	80
0014	%	95	5	100
Chi-square = 2.8	6	P = Not Signific	ant	

Chi-square = 2.86 P = Not Significant Phi = .25

As shown in Table 5, a significant correlation exists between the MSTOI and PIAT scores. The reader should note that the language subscales have at least as strong a relationship with the PIAT scores as the MSTOI total scores do.



TABLE 5

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI And PIAT Scores For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=80)

MSTOI Subscales	<u> </u>		PIAT Subs	scales		
	Mathematics	Reading Recognition	Reading Comprehension	Spelling .	General Information	PIAT Total
Psychomotor	.35	.28	.35	.26	.35	.40
Language	.39	.35	.44	.35	.42	.50
Sensory/Perception	.36	.35	.45	.35	.35	.47
Cognition	.28	.29	. 38	. 29	.30	.39
Affect/Motivation	.28	.18*	.28	.24*	.26	.32
MSTOI Total	.36	.28	.38	.31	.35	.43

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level except those marked *.

Table 6 shows the results of the X^2 analysis which indicates that the relationship between the MSTOI and PRS score categories is significant at the .01 level. This is in contrast with results of a nonsignificant relationship noted between the MSTOI and PIAT score categories.



TABLE 6

Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And PRS Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score	2	PRS Tota	al Score	
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	146	18	164
100 01 41 64 66.	Row % Col. %	89 80	11 38	71%
Less than 139	N Row %	36 55	30 4 5	66
	Col. %	20	62	29%
Column Totals	N %	182 79	48 21	230 100
Chi-square = 31. Phi = .38	82	P ∠ .01		

The correlation between the MSTOI total score and the PRS total score was .53. Correlations among the PRS and MSTOI subscores are shown in Table 7. In this analysis also, the language subscore has as strong a relationship as the MSTOI total scores with PRS subscores.

TABLE 7

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between The MLIDI And PRS For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=239)

MSTOI Sabscores	es		PRS	Subscore	es .			
	Auditory Comprehension	Spoken Language	Orientation	Motor Coordination	Personal/Social Behavior	Verbal	Nocverbal	PRS Total
Psychomotor	.43	.46	.48	.43	.52	.46	.51	.52
Language	.56	.56	.53	.44	.55	.58	.53	.59
Sensory/ Perception	.50	.49	. 51	.40	.51	.51	.50	.53
Cognition	.45	.41	.42	.32	.45	.44	.42	.45
Affeit./ Motivation	.36	.36	.43	.43	.56	.37	.51	.48
MSTOL Total	.48	.48	.47	.42	.55	.49	.51	.53

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

As shown in Table 8, a nonsignificant relationship was found between the CSAB classification and the PIAT score classification. Paradoxically, 96% of the PIAT scores were above the cutoff point, whereas for the same group 90% of the CSAB scores were below the cutoff point.



TABLE 8

Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By CSAB Performance And PIAT Total Scores

CSAB Total Scores		PIAT Tota		
		102 or Greater	Less than 102	Row Total
138 or Greater	N	8	0	8
	Row % Col. %	100 11	0 0	10%
Less than 138	N	68	3	71
	Row % Col. %	9 6 89	100	90%
Column Total	N	76	3	79
	%	96	4	100
Chi-square = 14		P = Not Signific	ant	

Chi-square = .14 P = Not Significan Phi = .07

The CSAB assesses five different competency areas. The correlation coefficients indicating a relationship among the CSAB and PIAT competency areas are shown in Table 9. A significant relationship was observed between the CSAB and PIAT total scores.

TABLE 9

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between
CSAB And PIAT For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

CSAB Competency		PIA	Subscore	!S		
Areas	Mathematics	Reading Recognition	Reading Comprehension	Spelling	General Information	PIAT Total
Orientation	.29	.25*	.46	.24*	.34	.40
Coordination	.23*	.31	.39	.24*	.15**	.33
Discrimination	.41	.46	.47	.36	.38	.53
Memory	.44	.37	.45	.29	.47	.52
Comprehension/ Concept	.43	.38	.50	.28	.54	.55
CSAB Total	.44	.41	.55	.31	.48	.56

Note: All unstarred are significant at the .01 level.

*Significant at .05 level.

**Not significant.

The predictive validity of the CSAB was determined, using the PRS as the criterion measure. Table 10 documents the results of classifying PRS and CSAB scores by the cutoff points. The calculated \mathbf{X}^2 indicates a relationship significant at the .05 level.



TABLE 10

Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By CSAB Performance And PRS Total Scores

62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
24	0	24
% 100 % 13	0	10
158	47 23	205
% // % 87	100	90
182 80	47 20	229 100
	24 % 100 % 13 158 % 77 % 87	24 0 % 100 0 % 13 0 158 47 % 77 23 % 87 100

Correlation coefficients between the CSAB and PRS were calculated. The correlation of total CSAB with total PRS was .58. Correlations of the competency areas and the PRS scores are shown in Table 11.

TABLE 11

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between CSAB
And PRS For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=229)

CSAB	PRS S		
Competency Areas	Verbal	Nonverbal	PRS Total
Orientation	. 54	.44	.52
Coordination	.35	.35	.35
Discrimination	.49	.39	.46
Memory	.59	.49	.55
Comprehension/ Concept	.60	.46	.54
CSAB Total	.62	.50	.58

Note: All correlations significant at .01 level.



The predictive validity of the CBI was determined using the PIAT total scores as the criterion measure. These data are shown in Tables 12-15.

TABLE 12

Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By CBI Performance And PIAT Total Scores

CBI Total Scores	_	PIAT Total		
		102 or Greater	Less than 102	Row Total
32 or Greater	N	46	0	46
	Row %	100	0	
	Col. %	61	0	58%
Less than 32	N	30	4	34
	Row %	88	12	
	Col. %	39	100	42%
Column Total	N	76	4	80
	%	95	5	100
Chi-square = 3.49		P = Not Significar	nt	

Chi-square = 3.49 P = Not Signification Phi = .27

The predictive validity of CBI was further assessed by determining the correlation between CBI total scores and the PIAT scores. The results are shown in Table 13.

TABLE 13

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between The CBI Total Score And PIAT Scores For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=80)

		PIAT Subscores				
	Mathematics	Reading Recognition	Reading Comprehension	Spelling	General Information	PIAT Total
CBI Total	.32	.27	.36	.27	.32	.39

Note: All Correlations significant at .01 level.



Table 14 and 15 summarize the results of the predictive validity calculations for the CBI with PRS as a criterion measure.

The $\chi 2$ value obtained indicated a significant degree of relationship between the CBI and PRS score distribution. Table 14 shows the score distribution.

TABLE 14

Distribution Of Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample Classified By CBI Performance And PRS Total Scores

CBI Total Scores		PRS Tota		
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
32 or Greater	N	111	5	116
32 Of diedler	Row % Col. %	96 61	4 10	50%
Less than 32	N	72	43	115
Less than on	Row % Col. %	63 39	37 90	50%
Column Total	N %	183 79	48 21	231 100
Chi-square = 36.41 Phi = .41	<u>E</u>	0 2 .01		

The final calculation done in order to assess the predictive validity of the CBI was to calculate its correlation with the PRS. As shown in Table 15, a significant relationship between these measures was observed.

TABLE 15

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between CBI Total Score And PRS Score For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=231)

	PRS S	ubscales	
	Verbal_	Nonverbal	Total
CBI Total	.49	.53	.69

Note: All correlations significant at .01 level.



Item Analysis

In order to assess the predictive validity of the MSTOI, an item analysis was performed. Each MSTOI item and MSTOI subscale was compared to the MSTOI total score. Each MSTOI item and subscore was compared to the total score of each of the criterion measures. These data are shown in Tables 16 and 17.



TABLE 16

MSTOI Item Analysis Correlations Of Each Item With MSTOI Subscales
And MSTOI Total Score For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=230)

MSTOI Item	MSTOI Subscales					
	Psychomotor	Language	Sensory/ Perception	Cognition	Affect/ Motivation	MSTOI Total
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	.74 .71 .57 .65 .50 .58 .48 .74 .80	.57 .73 .78 .66 .49 .73 .50 .52 .69	.66 .74 .73 .74 .40 .55 .36 .77 .73	.49 .67 .80 .84 .34 .51 .35 .73 .67	.58 .70 .51 .55 .57 .46 .61 .54	.63 .77 .74 .75 .54 .62 .52 .69 .80
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.75 .68 .37 .53 .36 .50 .63 .46 .62	.80 .79 .24 .40 .20 .63 .65 .40	.74 .69 .28 .53 .21 .74 .69 .33 .68	.71 .73 .37 .65 .16 .83 .80 .36	.72 .61 .45 .46 .66 .44 .55 .55	.80 .78 .39 .56 .37 .69 .73 .48 .70
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.67 .44 .63 .74 .46 .58 .56 .60	.59 .23 .63 .81 .23 .57 .43 .85	.73 .28 .41 .77 .30 .73 .51 .73 .30	.60 .21 .36 .71 .25 .78 .49 .74	.64 .68 .47 .76 .71 .52 .74 .55 .46	.72 .42 .53 .84 .45 .70 .62 .77 .44
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Pero Cognition Affect/Motiv		.60 .68 .68 .64 .76 .76	.71 .74 .57 .74 .68 .63 .85	.85 .83 .59 .53 .50 .76 .82 .89	.48 .53 .61 .51 .49 .47 .82 .72 .71	.70 .74 .69 .66 .67 .64 .91 .92 .93 .90

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.



TABLE 17

MSTOI Item Analysis

Correlations Of Each MSTOI Item And Subscale With The Total PIAT (N=80) And PRS (N=230) Criterion Measures For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample

MSTOI Item		MS	TOI Sub	scales			
	Psychomotor	Language	Sensory/ Perception	Cognition	Affect/ Motivation	PIAT Total	PRS Total
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	.74 .71 .57 .65 .50 .58 .48 .74 .80	.57 .73 .78 .66 .49 .73 .50 .52 .69	.66 .74 .73 .74 .40 .55 .36 .77 .73	.49 .67 .80 .84 .31 .35 .73 .67	.58 .70 .51 .55 * .57 **- .46 .61 ** .54	.31 .43 .23 .02 .35 .15 .31	.42 .51 .48 .30 .36 .42 .23 .29 .51
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.75 .68 .37 .53 .36 .50 .63 .46 .62	.80 .79 .24 .40 .20 .63 .65 .40	.74 .69 .28 .53 .21 .74 .69 .33 .68	.71 .73 .37 .65 .16 .83 .80 .36	.61 .45 ** .46 ** .66 * .44 .55 ** .55 **	.40 .31 .15 .10 .21 .43 .18 .02 .20	.57 .38 .05 .14 .17 .37 .27 .27 .30
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.67 .44 .63 .74 .46 .58 .56 .60 .49	.59 .23 .63 .81 .23 .57 .43 .85 .36	.73 .28 .41 .77 .30 .73 .51 .73	.60 .21 .36 .71 .25 .78 .49 .74 .33	.68 * .47 .76 .71 ** .52 * .74 ** .55	.29 .20 .37 .37 .11 .23 .11 .37 .04	.32 .19 .32 .58 .15 .26 .29 .55
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Pero Cognition Affect/Motiv	-	.60 .68 .68 .76 .76	.71 .74 .57 .74 .68 .63 .85	.85 .83 .59 .53 .50 .76 .82 .89	.53 * .61 * .51 .49 .47 .82	.28 .24 .24 .43 .33 .35 .40 .50 .47 .39	.27 .40 .29 .50 .54 .51 .45 .48 .39 .41

All unmarked correlations significant at the .01 level.
*Significant at the .05 level.
***The confident**



Discussion

A summary of the validity indices for the initial assessment instruments is shown in Table 18.

TABLE 18

Validity Indices For The MSTOI, CSAB And CBI
For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample

•		
	χ2	r_
Concurrent Validity MSTOI with CSAB MSTOI with CBI	9.26 56.52	.72 .73
Predictive Validity MSTOI with PRS CSAB with PRS CBI with PRS	31.82 5.59* 36.41	.53 .58 .69
MSTOI with PIAT CSAB with PIAT CBI with PIAT	2.86** .14** 3.49**	.43 .56 .39

**Not significant at the .05 level. *Significant at the .05 level. All other values significant at the .01 level.

While interpreting the data in Table 17, the reader should be cognizant of certain statistical assumptions and constraints. In this study the X^2 was used primarily for testing for the relationships between dichotomized score distributions. The distributions tested were indicated by the student performance on various assessment instruments. Obviously the cutoff score used will influence the magnitude of the obtained X^2 . An advantage associated with this procedure is that students are classified as a teacher would be required to classify them when interpreting MSTOI test results. In addition, the contingency table, an initial step in calculating X^2 , provides a graphic presentation of score distributions.



On the other hand, the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient procedure gives a more precise estimate of the degree of relationship between the various assessment instruments. Since the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient utilizes the entire continuum of scores, it is not cutoff score dependent. Further, Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients can be used to determine relationships among various subscores. Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients also can be analyzed to determine the existence of a statistically significant difference between correlation coefficients.

The results presented in this table are based on data from one sample and caution should be exercised when generalizing results.

In assessing the concurrent validity, it was noted that the MSTOI related as strongly to the CSAB as to the CBI. As might be expected, the concurrent validity coefficients are higher than the predictive validity coefficients. This normally is the case since there are fewer intervening variables over a shorter period of time.

When examining the predictive validity coefficients, it is interesting to note that all of the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients are significant at the .01 level. Whereas none of the X2 relationships between the initial assessment instruments and the PIAT are significant. A possible explanation for this apparent inconsistency may be the selection of inappropriate cutoff scores. For example, the MSTOI score was established to select the bottom 40% of those tested for further attention. In the Queen Anne's County follow-up sample, 21% scored below the cutoff score. For the PIAT, only 5% scored below the cutoff while on the other criterion test, the PRS, 21% scored below the cutoff. It must be noted that the various cutoff scores were selected as standards for the State of Maryland and these anomalous



results may have been due to factors indigenous to this county.

A t-test for testing for differences between dependent correlations revealed that only the predictive validity coefficient for the CBI with the PRS was significantly higher than the MSTOI predictive validity coefficient (t=2.95). In other words, the MSTOI predictive validity coefficient was as good as the validity coefficients of the CSAB and the CBI in three out of four comparisons. Although all of the validity correlation coefficients are significant at the .01 level or better, it must be noted that the chi-square (X^2) values were not always significant. This seems especially evident in the CSAB and PIAT analyses. A possible explanation for this apparent inconsistency may be the selection of inappropriate cutoff scores used in the contingency table.

A rather intensive item and subscale analysis of the MSTOI was performed. The results may be summarized as follows: 1) all of the subscales had predictive validity coefficients significant at the .01 level for both criteria (PIAT and PRS total scores), 2) all individual items were related significantly to the total MSTOI score and to at least one criterion total score (in general the items related significantly with both criteria), 3) the relationship between the MSTOI items and the PRS was apparently higher than for the PIAT.

The intercorrelations among the five subscales are striking in that the majority are in the .80 to .89 range. This degree of interrelatedness is reflected in the generally consistent size of correlation coefficients for a particular MSTOI item. This is true with each of the five subscales. There are several possible explanations for these findings. One reason may be that the various skills measured by the MSTOI are very highly related and therefore one would expect a high degree of interrelatedness among the various items and subscales. Another possibility is that the "halo effect" reduces the



variability among item ratings. For example, the teacher that has an overall impression of the child may tend to rate the student similarly on all items. The extent to which these explanations are valid cannot be determined from the data. However, it seems reasonable to state the subscores present little additional statistical information beyond that provided by the total score. However, these subscale scores may provide useful diagnostic information for planning educational programs.

Results - Wicomico County

Initial Tests

During the 1974-75 school year, all 550 kindergarten youngsters in Wicomico County were evaluated using the MSTOI. From this group a total of 546 usable test forms were obtained. The mean of the total MSTOI score was 149.10 with a standard deviation of 19.95. Individual item means and subscore means are shown in Appendix A, Table I.

In addition to the MSTOI, the <u>Cognitive Skills Achievement Battery</u> (CSAB) was administered to each kindergarten youngster. As a result of this testing, 546 usable CSAB test scores were obtained. The mean of the total score was 108.94 and the standard deviation was 17.55. These data are shown in detail in Appendix A, Table J.

The youngsters were also rated using the <u>Classroom Behavior</u>

<u>Inventory</u>. Observations were made at approximately the same time during the year. A total of 546 valid forms were available. For this initial sample, a mean of 28.89 was calculated with a standard deviation of 8.69. Subscale scores are shown in Table K in Appendix A.

Follow-up Tests

The criterion measure, the <u>Pupil Rating Scale</u> (PRS), was administered to all of the initial sample that could be located. A total of 387 students were included in this follow-up sample. An analysis of the PRS



test data for these youngsters showed a total score mean of 75.88 with a standard deviation of 16.98. Additional information on the subscale scores is shown in Table L in Appendix A.

The possibility of a systematic change in sample composition was investigated by comparing the mean scores of MSTOI initial sample with the mean score of the follow-up sample. On the initial sample, the MSTOI mean was 149.10 with a standard deviation of 19.95. On the follow-up sample, the MSTOI mean was 151.06 with a standard deviation of 18.33. Subscale scores for the follow-up sample are shown in Table M. A t-test was performed and the results showed no significant differences at the .05 level. Since there was no significant difference between the samples, results from the follow-up sample can be generalized to the initial sample.

Concurrent Validity

The concurrent validity of the MSTOI for assessing Wicomico County students was established by determining the relationship between students' MSTOI ratings and their ratings on the other initial instruments. The results are summarized in tables 19-21. Table 19 indicates the distribution of CSAB and MSTOI scores when they are classified as either above or below the cutoff point. The results from the X2 analysis indicated a statistically significant degree of association between MSTOI and CSAB ratings. This apparent relationship is shown in the fact that no student who was placed below the cutoff point on the MSTOI scored above the CSAB total score cutoff point.



Table 19

Distribution Of Wicomico County Follow-up Sample
Classified By MSTOI Performance And CSAB Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		CSAB Tota		
		128 or Greater	Less than 128	Row Total
139 or Greater	N Row %	48 15	2 64 85	312
	Col. %	100	79	81%
Less than 139	N Row %	0 0	72 100	72
	Col. %	Ö	21	19%
Column Total	N %	48 13	336 87	384 100
Chi-square = 11.29 Phi = .18		P < .01		

Table 20 indicates the distribution of MSTOI and CBI scores that have been classified according to the cutoff points for these tests. The statistically significant X² value computed indicated a significant relationship between MSTOI scores and CBI scores i.e. concurrent validity. It is interesting to note that over one half of the students were classified below the cutoff point for the CBI whereas only 19% of the students were found to be below the MSTOI cutoff score.



TABLE 20

Distribution Of Wicomico County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And CBI Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		CBI Tota		
	·	32 or Greater	Less than 32	Row Total
139 or Greater	N Row % Col. %	169 53 97	142 46 68	311 81%
Less than 139	N Row % Col. %	6 8 3	68 92 32	74 19%
Column Total	N %	175 46	210 54	385 · 100
Chi-square = 49.68 Phi = .37	P	2 .01		

A second procedure for determining the concurrent validity of the MSTOI was employed. The reasons for testing the relationship between MSTOI performance and the other initial testing instruments with the Pearson Product Moment Correlational technique as well as the X² were discussed in the section dealing with the Queen Anne's County results. In general, it might be appropriate to say that the X² technique provides results that have greater understandability and relevance to the classroom teacher. The Pearson Product Moment technique utilizes the data more completely and provides results that are more precise and amenable to further statistical analysis. All of the correlation coefficients indicated a significant .01 level relationship between MSTOI ratings and the other test performances. In this analysis, the correlations of the MSTOI with the CSAB and CBI were computed. These data are shown in Table 21.



TABLE 21

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI Scores And The CSAB And The CBI For The Wicomico County Follow-up Sample

MSTOI Subscales	CSAB Total N=384	CBI Total N=385
Psychomotor	.64	.62
Language	.74	.62
Sensory/Perception	.74	.61
Cognition	.70	.54
Affect/Motivation	.56	.65
MSTOI Total	.75	.67

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

Additional information concerning the relationship of the MSTOI with the CSAB and CBI subscales is shown in Appendix A, Tables N and O. Predictive Validity

The predictive validity of the initial assessment instruments, MSTOI, CSAB and CBI was determined by calculating the contingency coefficients and the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients with the criterion measure, the PRS. Tables 22-27 present the results of this aspect of the validity study. All statistical indicators of predictive validity were significant at the .01 level. Table 22 indicates the distribution of MSTOI and PRS scores classified as either above or below the cutoff score for the respective test. The calculated X^2 indicated that there is a statistically significant degree of association between performances on the two tests.



TABLE 22 Distribution Of Wicomico County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And PRS Total Score

MSTOI Total Score		PRS Tota		
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	277	35	312
	Row %	89	11	010
	Co1. %	87	51	81%
Less than 139	N	40	34	74
Less than 139	Row %	54	46	
	Col. %	13	49	19%
Column Total	N	317	69	386
Corumn rotar	%	82	18	100

Phi = .36

Table 23 summarizes the results of analyzing the relationship between the various MSTOI and PRS scales with the Pearson Product Moment Correlation technique. The predictive validity of the MST0I total score when using the PRS total score as the criterion is .52. Inspection of the correlation coefficients indicating the relationships among the various subscale scores reveals that the MSTOI language subscale possess predictive validity coefficients of approximately the same magnitude as the MSTOI total score. The PRS Motor Coordination subscale is notable in that its coefficients appear to be of a lower order than the other subscales.



TABLE 23

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between The MSTOI And PRS For The Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=386)

MSTOI Subscore	es		PRS	Subscor	es			
	Auditory Comprehension	Spoken Language	Orientation	Motor Coordination	Personal/Social Behavior	Verbal	Nonverba1	PRS Total
Psychomotor	.42	.43	.40	.24	.46	.46	.45	.47
Language	.48	.48	.42	.27	.45	.51	.45	.50
Sensory/ Perception	.44	.47	.41	.2 8	.44	.48	.43	.48
Cognition	.38	.41	.33	.18	.37	.43	.35	.40
Affect/ Motivation	.42	.41	.42	.23	.49	.44	.47	.48
MSTOI Total	.48	.49	.43	.27	.40	.52	.48	.52

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

The predictive validity of CSAB was determined by developing a contingency table and by determining the correlation with the criterion measure. Score distributions of the CSAB and PRS are shown in Table 24. Table 25 presents the results of Pearson Product Moment Correlation analysis. All calculated values were significant at the .01 level.



TABLE 24

Distribution Of Wicomico County Follow-up Sample Classified By CSAB Performance And PRS Scores

CSAB Total Scores		PRS Tota		
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
128 or Greater	N	47	1	4 8
	Row %	9 8	2	
	Col. %	15	1	12%
Less than 128	N	268	69	337
	Row %	80	20	
	Co1. %	85	99	8 7%
Column Total	N	315	70	385
	%	82	18	100

The predictive validity of the CSAB with the PRS as the criterion was indicated by the correlation coefficient of .50. Correlation coefficients indicating the relationships among the competency areas and the PRS subtotals are shown in Table 25. All computed values were significant.

TABLE 25

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between CSAB Scores And PIAT For Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=385)

CSAB	PRS		
Competency Areas	Verbal_	Nonverbal	Total
Orientation	.51	.44	.49
Coordination	.33	.34	.35
Discrimination	.46	.39	.44
Memory	.4 9	.44	.4 8
Comprehension/ Concept	.52	.44	.50
CSAB Total	.56	.48	.54

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.



The predictive validity of the initial assessment measure, the CBI, with the PRS as a criterion measure is summarized in Tables 26 and 27. All calculated values were significant at the .01 level. Distribution of the CBI scores and the PRS scores according to their cutoff points are documented in Table 26.

TABLE 26

Distribution Of Wicomico County Follow-up Sample Classified By CBI Performance And PRS Total Scores

CBI Total Scores		PRS Tota		
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
32 or Greater	N	163	12	175
	Row %	93	7	
	Col. %	52	17	45%
Less than 32	N	153	58	211
	Row %	73	27	
	Col. %	48	83	55%
Column Total	N	316	70	386
	%	82	18	100

The predictive validity of the CBI was established by determining its correlational relationship with the criterion PRS scores. The correlations were significant at the .01 level. These data are shown in Table 27.

TABLE 27

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between CBI Total Scores And PRS Scores For Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=386)

	PRS	Subscales	
	Verbal	Nonverbal	Total
CBI Total	.42	.43	.45

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.



Item Analysis

In order to assess the predictive validity of the MSTOI, an item analysis was performed. A correlation coefficient was computed indicating the relationship of each MSTOI item and MSTOI subscale score with the MSTOI total score and the PRS criterion measure. All coefficients are significant at the .01 level. These data are shown in Table 28.



TABLE 28

MSTOI Item Analysis
Correlations Of Each Item With Total MSTOI Score And PRS
Criterion Measure For Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=386)

MSTOI Item		MST	OI Subs	cales			
	Psychomotor	Language	Sensory/ Perception	Cognition	Affect/ Motivation	MSTOI Total	PRS Total
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	.77 .58 .57 .47 .58 .68 .49 .64	.56 .57 .74 .55 .41 .73 .42 .57 .62	.61 .59 .60 .45 .41 .53 .31 .64	.47 .50 .70 .72 .36 .49 .29 .60	.63 .60 .50 .41 .55 .63 .66 .41	.65 .63 .68 .58 .54 .69 .51 .60	.41 .33 .24 .26 .35 .24 .24 .42
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.71 .48 .40 .41 .52 .54 .51 .48	.72 .62 .33 .47 .34 .61 .54 .43 .49	.68 .55 .26 .41 .30 .74 .62 .35 .53	.67 .64 .27 .60 .32 .76 .71 .40 .68	.72 .32 .49 .33 .72 .51 .38 .61 .39	.77 .57 .41 .49 .50 .68 .60 .53	.51 .34 .24 .29 .33 .26 .30
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.41 .43 .60 .71 .51 .46 .61 .60	.44 .31 .59 .73 .38 .50 .49 .83 .43	.63 .30 .43 .69 .37 .59 .46 .68	.46 .29 .44 .63 .38 .67 .46 .66	.31 .66 .40 .75 .70 .42 .78 .56 .60	.50 .47 .52 .78 .54 .57 .64 .74	.34 .25 .32 .50 .30 .33 .26
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Pero Cognition Affect/Motiv		.58 .59 .72 .59 .58 .76 .80	.56 .59 .56 .72 .65 .67 .78	.73 .72 .54 .53 .43 .58 .69 .83	.37 .47 .45 .47 .44 .48 .83 .70 .66	.59 .63 .63 .59 .68 .89 .93 .91 .88	.30 .32 .33 .31 .42 .44 .46 .49 .47 .39

Note: All values significant at the .01 level.



Discussion

Analysis of the Wicomico County data revealed that the MSTOI possesses both concurrent and predictive validity. A summary of these data are shown in Table 29 and a discussion of the data in the table follows.

TABLE 29
Summary Of Validity Indices For The MSTOI, CBI, And CSAB In Wicomico County

	χ2	r
Concurrent Validity MSTOI with CSAB MSTOI with CBI	11.29 49.68	.75 .67
Predictive Validity MSTOI with PRS CSAB with PRS CBI with PRS	46.80 8.36 26.05	.52 .54 .45

Note: All values significant at the .01 level.

In the discussion of the results, the Pearson Product Moment Correlational analysis will be presented first and will be followed by a discussion of the X² analysis of data. The MSTOI concurrent validity correlation coefficients of .67 and .75 indicate a strong relationship with the initial assessment instruments. Of major concern in this study, however, was the predictive validity of the initial assessment instruments, the MSTOI, CSAB and CBI. For predictive validity, the correlation coefficients ranged from .45 to .54. In order to determine whether one test was a significantly better predictor, a t-test was done on the dependent correlations. No significant differences were found in the dependent correlations. It was concluded that all three initial assessment instruments were equally good predictors when the PRS was used as the criterion instrument.

43



Examination of the chi-square data showed that the MSTOI had concurrent validity at .01 level of significance. The predictive validity as determined by X² showed that all of the initial assessment instruments had significant predictive validity at the .01 level. As shown in Table 29, however, there was a wide difference in actual X² values obtained. In part, this range can be explained by examining the cutoff scores for various instruments and the resulting proportion of the sample identified as falling below the cutoff point. An examination of the data for this county showed that when the MSTOI was used, approximately 19% of the sample scored below the MSTOI cutoff point. In contrast, the percentage of students scoring below the cutoff point on the CSAB and the CBI was 88% and 54% respectively.

Earlier data had indicated that the percentage of students rated below the 139 cutoff score would be approximately 40%. The wide discrepancy between an anticipated 40% and the observed 19% may be attributed to several factors. First, the sample may well represent a group of students who are above average ability when compared to the rest of the state. A second explanation is that since all MSTOI tests were not administered in the first eight weeks of the school, students progressed sufficiently during the school year to be evaluated as being above the cutoff score. Third, teacher bias may have developed where teachers tend to evaluate students above the cutoff score. Such an evaluation bias would reduce the number of EMP's written for students. The extent or existence of these practices cannot be determined from the data available.

It may be hypothesized that the high percentage of students scoring below the cutoff point on the CSAB can be attributed to the high cutoff score used with this test. Although the number of students falling



below the CBI cutoff point was 54%, these data may indicate that the sample is a group that has less ability than the norm population.

The results of the item analysis may be summarized as follows:

1) all individual items were related significantly with the total

MSTOI score and with the PRS criterion measure, 2) all of the subscales had validity coefficients significant at .01 level with the
criterion measure total score, 3) all of the subscores were intercorrelated significantly. The interrelationships among the five
subscales ranged from .62 to .84.

Results - Cecil County

Initial Tests

In Cecil County, the MSTOI was used to evaluate all of the kindergarten youngsters. A total of 435 usable test forms were obtained. The mean for this population was 145.00 with a standard deviation of 23.19. Individual item means and subscale means are shown in Table P, Appendix A.

On the basis of the total MSTOI scores, 100 youngsters were selected for additional testing. The youngsters with the fifty highest MSTOI scores and the youngsters with the fifty lowest scores were chosen for additional testing. Where possible, the Meeting Street School Screening Test (MSSST) and the Self Control Behavior Inventory (SCBI) were administered to these children. From this group, 88 usable pairs of MSSST and SCBI scores were obtained. This group of 88 was designated as the initial sample. Since the selection of the initial sample was not random, it was necessary to know whether the initial sample significantly differed from population on the MSTOI scores. The mean of the initial sample for the MSTOI was 141.18 with a standard deviation of 33.00. A t-test was conducted to assess the



significance of the difference in the means between the population and the initial sample. Results of the t-test indicated the means of these samples differed significantly at the .01 level of confidence. Therefore it was concluded that all statistical analysis by necessity would be limited to the initial sample and could not be generalized to the population.

For the initial sample, the mean total score on the MSSST was 48.43 with a standard deviation of 20.68. The MSSST subscales are shown in Table Q. On the SCBI, the mean of the total score was 13.41 with a standard deviation of 7.86.

Follow-up Study

In any longitudinal study, a sample loss can be predicted. In this case, the original 88 usable scores was reduced to a 79 follow-up sample. The criterion measures, the PIAT and PRS, were administered to these 79 youngsters. Criterion measures were administered in the spring of 1977. Results showed a PIAT total score mean of 160.84 with a standard deviation of 58.36. For the follow-up sample, the total score on the PRS for the total score was 79.38 with a standard deviation of 22.40. Subscale scores on the criterion measures are shown in Tables R and S in Appendix A.

Prior to proceeding with any additional data analysis, the MSTOI total score mean for the initial sample was compared with the MSTOI total score mean for the follow-up sample. The mean for the initial sample was 141.18 while the mean for the follow-up sample was 136.01. Data for the MSTOI follow-up are shown in detail in Table T. No significant difference in the means was detected with a t-test. From this result, it was inferred that all future calculations could be made using the data from the follow-up sample. All conclusions



reached could be generalized to the initial sample but not to the population. Follow-up data for the MSSST is shown in Table U. The SCBI follow-up sample mean is 11.03 with a standard deviation of 8.44. Concurrent Validity

An analysis was done to determine the concurrent validity of MSTOI. First, the MSTOI total score distribution was determined with the score distributions of MSSST. These results are shown in Table 30. The relationship of the score distributions was significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 30 Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And MSSST Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		MSSST Total		
<u> </u>		58 or Greater	Less than 58	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	2 5	11	36
	Row %	69	31	
	Co1. %	96	2 6	52%
Less than 139	N	1	32	3 3
Less chan 105	Row %	3	97	
	Col. %	4	74	48%
Column Total	N	2 6	43	69
COTUMN TOTAL	%	38	62	100

Phi = .68

The concurrent validity of the MSTOI also was determined by examining the relationship between MSTOI total score distribution and SCBI total score distribution. These data are shown in Table 31. The relationship between the scores on the two rating instruments was significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 31 Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And SCBI Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		SCBI Tota		
		15 or Greater	Less than 15	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	31	5	36
•	Row %	86	14	
	Col. %	97	14	53%
Less than 139	N	1	31	32
2000 0,,4,, 100	Row %	3	97	
	Col. %	3 3	86	47%
Column Total	N	32	36	68
	%	47	53	100

Phi = .83

The concurrent validity of the MSTOI was determined by computing the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients for the MSTOI with the two initial assessment instruments, the MSSST and the SCBI. MSTOI total score with the total score on the MSSST showed a correlation of .68. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient for the MSTOI total score with the SCBI total score was .76. Correlations for the various subscores are shown in Table 32. The relationship between the two teacher rating instruments was consistently higher than the relationship between the MSTOI and the MSSST. All relationships were significant at .01 level.



TABLE 32

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI Scores And MSSST And SCBI Scores For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=68)

MSTOI	M				
Subscales	Motor Patterning	Visual Perceptual Motor	Language	MSSST Total	SCBI Total
Psychomotor	.63	.66	.71	.68	.75
Language	.63	.64	.69	.68	.74
Sensory/ Perception	.64	.66	.69	.69	.73
Cognition	.62	.64	.66	.66	.71
Affect/ Motivation	.61	.63	.65	.65	.76
MSTOI Total	.63	.66	.69	.68	.76

Note: All correlations significant at .01 level.

Predictive Validity

The predictive validity of the three initial assessment instruments was determined by examining the score distribution of the initial assessment instruments and of the criterion measures Peabody Initial Achievement Test (PIAT) and Pupil Rating Scale (PRS). Predictive validity also was determined by computing the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients between the three initial assessment instruments and the two criterion measures.

The distribution of scores for the MSTOI initial assessment measure and the PIAT criterion measure are shown in Table 33. It should be noted that relationship between scores was significant at the .01 level. No students scoring above 139 on the MSTOI scored below the PIAT cutoff point.

TABLE 33

Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample
Classified By MSTOI Performance And PIAT Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		PIAT Total		
		102 or Greater	Less than 102	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	40	0	40
	Row %	100	0	
	Col. %	63	0	51%
Less than 139	N	24	15	39
Less than 105	Row %		3 8	
	Col. %	62 37	100	49%
Column Total	N	64	15	79
	%	81	19	100
Chi-square = 16.57 Phi = .49	%	81 P ∠ .01		_

The Pearson Product Moment Correlation between the MSTOI total scores and the PIAT total scores was .85. Correlation for the subscores are shown in Table 34. All correlations were significant at the .01 level.

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI And PIAT Scores For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

MSTOI Subscales		PIAT Subscales							
	Mathematics	Reading Recognition	Reading Comprehension	Spelling	General Information	PIAT Total			
Psychomotor	.77	.85	.86	.83	.70	.86			
Language	.77	.84	.85	.83	.71	.85			
Sensory/Perception	.80	.84	.87	.84	.71	.87			
Cognition	.72	.77	.79	.77	.64	.79			
Affect/Motivation	.77	.82	.82	.76	.70	.83			
MSTOI Total	.77	.83	.85	.81	.71	.85 vel.			

Note: All correlations are significant at the .01 level.



The distribution of the Cecil County follow-up sample classified by MSTOI total scores and the criterion PRS are shown in Table 35. The relationship between the score distributions is significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 35 Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Performance And PRS Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		PRS Tot		
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	39	1	40
	Row %	9 8	2	
	Co1. %	71	4	51%
Less than 139	N	16	23	39
Less than 139	Row %	41	59	
	Col. %	29	96	49%
Column Total	N	55	24	79
Column Total	%	70	30	100

Phi = .61

An analysis of the relationship between the MSTOI total scores and the PRS total showed a correlation coefficient of .81. The relationships between the subscales are shown in Table 36. The subscale scores correlate almost as highly as the total scores. The cognition subscale on the MSTOI shows the lowest degree of correlation with the PRS.



TABLE 36

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI And PRS Scores For The Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

MSTOI Subscales			PRS	PRS Subscales				
	Auditory Comprehension	Spoken Language	Orientation	Motor Coordination	Personal/Social Behavior	Verbal	Nonverba 1	PRS Total
Psychomotor	.76	.80	.79	.75	.78	.80	.83	.84
Language	.76	.80	.75	.70	.75	.79	.79	.82
Sensory/Perception	.75	.77	.75	.69	.76	.78	.80	.81
Cognition	.67	.73	.68	.66	.69	.71	.73	.74
Affect/Motivation	.76	.77	.75	.71	.79	.78	.81	.83
MSTOI Total	.75	.77	.74	.71	.75	.77	.79 	.81

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

The efficacy of the MSTOI as a predictor of academic success is indicated by the distribution of grade placement and MSTOI total scores. These data are shown in Table 37. Only one student scoring above the MSTOI cutoff score did not make normal school progress. The relationship between the two distributions was significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 37

Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample
Classified By MSTOI Performance And Grade Placement

MSTOI Score		Grade P	Grade Placement	
		First	Second	Row Total
139 or Greater	N	1	39	40
	Row %	3	97	===
	Col. %	4	71	51%
Less than 139	N	22	16	38
Less than 105	Row %	58	42	
	Col. %	96	29	49%
Column Total	N	23	55	78
Corumn Total	%	29	71	100

Note: One grade placement missing. Chi-square = 26.16 P ∠ .01

Phi = .61

The second initial assessment administered was the Meeting Street School Screening Test (MSSST). The distribution of the MSSST total scores and the PIAT criterion measure are shown in Table 38. The relationship between the score distributions was significant at the .01 level. No student scoring above the MSSST cutoff fell below the PIAT cutoff score.

TABLE 38

Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSSST Performance And PIAT Total Score

MSSST Total Score		PIAT Tota		
		102 or Greater	Less than 102	Row Total
58 or Greater	N Row %	26 100	0 0	26
	Co1. %	46	0	38%
Less than 58	N Row %	31 72	12 28	43
•	Col. %	54	100	6 2%
Column Total	N %	57 83	12 17	69 100

The predictive validity of the MSSST was determined by examining the relationship between the MSSST and the PIAT. A correlation of .82 was found for the total scores. The relationships between the subscales are shown in Table 39. All correlations are significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 39

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSSST And PIAT Total Scores For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=69)

MSSST Subscales	PIAT Subscales						
	Mathematics	Reading Recognition	Reading Comprehension	Spelling	General Information	 PIAT Total	
Motor Patterning	.70	.6 6	.70	.64	.60	.71	
Visual Perceptual/Motor	.76	.72	.79	.70	.57	.76	
Language	.80	.80	.81	.75	.73	.84	
Total	.80	.77	.81	.74	.67	.82	

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

The predictive validity of the MSSST was determined by comparing the score distribution of the MSSST with the score distributions on the criterion measure, the PRS. This distribution is shown in Table 40. The relationship between the score distributions is significant at the .01 level. Every student exceeding the MSSST cutoff score also scored above the PRS cutoff point.



TABLE 40 Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSSST Performance And PRS Total Scores

MSSST Total Score		PRS Tota	al Score	<u> </u>
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
58 or Greater	N	26	0	26
	Row % Col. %	100 53	0 0	38%
Less than 58	N	23	20	43
	Row % Col. %	54 47	46 100	62%
Column Total	N %	49 71	20 29	79 100
Chi-square = 14.84	F	℃ .01		_

The predictive validity of the MSSST also was assessed by determining the correlation between the MSSST and the PRS. The correlation coefficient between the total scores was .81. Subscore correlations are shown in Table 41. All correlations are significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 41 Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSSST And PRS Scores For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

MSSST Subscales	PRS Subscales							
	Auditory Comprehension	Spoken Language	Orientation	Motor Coordination	Personal/Social Behavior	Verbal	Nonverbal	PRS Total
Motor Patterning	.64	.69	.67	.58	.70	.68	.71	.72
Visual/ Perceptual Motor	.74	.71	.79	.64	.77	.74	.80	.79
Language	.76	.77	.69	.61	.76	.78	.75	.79
Total	.75	.77	.75	.64	.79	.77	.80	.81

Note: All correlations are significant at the 501 level.



Assessment of the predictive validity of the SCBI was made by examining the score distribution of the SCBI and the PIAT. These data are shown in Table 42. Unlike the other relationships in Cecil County sample, this relationship was not significant at the .01 level, but was significant at the .05 level.

TABLE 42

Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample
Classified By SCBI Performance And PIAT Total Scores

SCBI Total Score		PIAT Tota		
		102 or Greater	Less than 102	Row Total
15 or Greater	N	31	1	32
	Row %	97	3	
	Col. %	54	9	47%
Less than 15	N	26	10	36
	Row %	72	28	
	Col. %	46	91	53%
Column Total	N	57	11	68
oo ramii	%	84	16	100

Chi-square = 5.88 P ∠ .05 Phi = .33

The correlation between the SCBI total score and PIAT scores was determined. Correlation of total scores was .61. Subscore correlations are listed in Table 43. Total score and subscale scores are significant at the .01 level.



TABLE 43

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between SCBI Scores And PIAT Scores For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=68)

	PIAT Subscore							
	Mathematics	Reading Recognition	Reading Comprehension	Spelling	General Information	PIAT Total		
SCBI Total	.58	.62	.63	.57	.51	.61		

Note: All correlations are significant at the .Ol level.

The distribution of SCBI scores with the PRS scores was examined in order to assess predictive validity of the SCBI. These score distributions are shown in Table 44. Only one student exceeding SCBI cutoff score in kindergarten failed to exceed the PRS cutoff score in the second grade.

TABLE 44

Distribution Of Cecil County Follow-up Sample Classified By SCBI Performance And PRS Scores

SCBI Total Score		PRS		
		62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
15 or Greater	N	31	1	32
	Row %	97	3	
	Col. %	63	5	47%
Less than 15	N	18	18	36
	Row %	5 0	5 0	
	Col. %	37	95	53%
Column Total	N	49	19	68
	%	72	2 8	100

Chi-square = 16.23 P ∠ .01 Phi = .46



The predictive validity of the SCBI was determined by examining the strength of the relationship between the SCBI and the PRS. A correlation of .70 was found between the total scores. Subscale correlations are shown in Table 45. All correlations ranging from .63 to .74 are significant at the .01 level.

TABLE 45

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between SCBI Scores And PRS Scores For The Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=68)

	_	PRS Subscores						_
	Auditory Comprehension	Spoken Language	Orientation	Motor Coordination	Personal/Social Behavior	Verbal	Nonverbal	 Total
SCBI Total Score	.74	.74	.73	.69	.78	.63	.72	.70

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

Item Analysis

In order to assess the predictive validity of the MSTOI, an item analysis was performed. Each MSTOI item and subscore were compared to the MSTOI total score. Each item and subscore was compared to the total score of the criterion measures, the PIAT and the PRS. The relatively high correlations of the MSTOI subscores with the MSTOI total score should be noted.



TABLE 46

MSTOI Item Analysis Correlations Of Each Item With MSTOI Subscales And MSTOI Total Score For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

MSTOI Item		MST	SanS IO	cale		
	Psychomotor	Language	Sensory/ Perception	Cognition	Affect/ Motivation	MSTOI Total
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	.82 .82 .90 .61 .71 .86 .73 .76 .90	.76 .82 .93 .68 .67 .90 .69 .73 .85	.80 .83 .90 .66 .69 .88 .69 .75 .85	.67 .74 .89 .77 .65 .84 .68 .76 .84	.80 .86 .87 .55 .67 .84 .77 .63 .91	.78 .83 .92 .69 .71 .90 .74 .73 .89
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.87 .80 .59 .71 .44 .88 .67 .76	.87 .90 .61 .79 .40 .92 .76 .76 .69	.87 .86 .63 .77 .40 .95 .72 .77	.85 .90 .51 .85 .41 .93 .86 .71 .77	.89 .72 .59 .66 .61 .84 .61 .79 .58	.89 .88 .61 .80 .47 .93 .76 .79
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.74 .54 .83 .84 .60 .75 .56 .89 .74	.75 .51 .85 .85 .54 .83 .54 .95 .62	.80 .79 .86 .54 .84 .50 .92 .62	.69 .51 .79 .81 .57 .85 .51 .91	.77 .68 .68 .87 .71 .71 .71 .83 .67	.77 .56 .81 .87 .61 .84 .59 .93
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Per Cognition Affect/Moti	ceptio		.84 .86 .85 .88 .91 .93 .94	.89 .91 .86 .87 .87 .90 .96	.72 .74 .69 .75 .79 .84 .91 .88	.85 .85 .88 .92 .96 .98 .98



Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level. 59

TABLE 47

MSTOI Item Analysis

Correlations Of Each MSTOI Item And Subscale With The Total PIAT (N=79)
And PRS (N=79) Criterion Measures For Cecil County Follow-up Sample

MSTOI Item		MST	OI Subs	cale	<u> </u>		
	Psychomotor	Language	Sensory/ Perception	Cognition	Affect/ Motivation	PIAT Total	PRS Total
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	.82 .82 .90 .61 .71 .86 .73 .76 .90	.76 .82 .93 .68 .67 .90 .69 .73 .85	.80 .83 .90 .66 .69 .88 .69 .75	.67 .74 .89 .77 .66 .84 .68 .76	.80 .86 .87 .55 .67 .84 .77 .63	.75 .78 .81 .53 .58 .82 .62 .67	.70 .76 .79 .47 .61 .78 .58 .63 .80
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.87 .80 .59 .71 .44 .88 .67 .76	.87 .90 .61 .79 .40 .92 .76 .76 .69	.87 .86 .63 .77 .40 .95 .72 .77 .71	.85 .90 .51 .85 .41 .93 .86 .71 .77	.89 .72 .59 .66 .61 .84 .61 .79	.75 .71 .60 .60 .40 .81 .55 .65	.78 .64 .50 .55 .49 .78 .50 .61
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.74 .54 .83 .84 .60 .75 .56 .89 .74	.75 .51 .85 .85 .54 .83 .54 .95	.80 .50 .79 .86 .54 .84 .50 .92	.69 .51 .79 .81 .57 .85 .51 .91	.77 .68 .68 .87 .71 .71 .71 .83 .67	.72 .45 .70 .79 .56 .64 .55 .82 .58	.75 .51 .69 .80 .56 .60 .58 .79 .59
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Pero Cognition Affect/Motiv	•	.84 .87 .89 .87 .89 .93 .94	.84 .86 .85 .88 .91 .93 .94	.89 .91 .86 .87 .87 .90 .96	.72 .74 .69 .75 .79 .84 .91 .88 .89	.67 .69 .71 .73 .80 .82 .86 .85 .87 .79	.57 .67 .63 .67 .71 .76 .84 .82 .81 .74

ERIC

Note: All correlations significant at the .01 level.

Discussion

The procedures used to select the sample for study in Cecil County present a problem for those wishing to generalize beyond the immediate sample. Since only those at the extreme ends of the score distribution for the MSTOI were chosen, the sample scores were not normally distributed; therefore, caution should be employed when interpreting results from various statistical analyses. The difference between MSTOI mean total scores for those chosen and the total school population (145.2 vs. 140.65) should be noted. The resulting MSTOI score distribution is therefore not representative of the total school population. As far as may be inferred from the data, the MSTOI possesses both concurrent and predictive validity. A summary of the validity indices for the MSTOI in Cecil County is presented in Table 48.

TABLE 48
Summary Of Validity Indices For The MSTOI, SCBI, And MSSST In Cecil County

	χ2	r
Concurrent Validity MSTOI with MSSST MSTOI with SCBI	29.57 43.56	.68 .76
Predictive Validity MSTOI with PRS SCBI with PRS MSSST with PRS	27.17 16.23 14.84	.81 .70 .81
MSTOI with PIAT SCBI with PIAT MSSST with PIAT	16.57 5.88* 6.95	.85 .61 .82

Note: All unstarred values significant at the .01 level. *Values significant at the .05 level.



Inspection of the preceding table reveals that in terms of predictive validity, the MSTOI compares favorably with the other screening instruments, SCBI and MSSST. An examination of the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients shows that the predictive validity of the MSTOI exceeds or equals the values calculated for the other initial assessment instruments. For this sample, the MSTOI teacher rating scale is as valid as the individually administered MSSST in predictive validity for both criterion measures. The predictive validity of the MSTOI is larger than that of SCBI when the PIAT is used as a criterion measure. When the apparent difference between MSTOI coefficient of .85 and the SCPI coefficient of .61 was tested for significance, with the t-test, a significant difference was found.

The predictive validity was assessed by constructing a contingency table and calculating the significance of the relationship between assessment instruments and the criterion measures. Five of the six calculations performed showed the $\rm X^2$ value was significant at the .01 level. The sixth value was significant at the .05 level.

The results of the item and subscale item analysis in this county was similar to that reported for the other counties with the exception that here (perhaps due to the sample selection procedures) the correlations reported were higher than in the other counties. The results may be summarized as follows: 1) all of the subscales had predictive validity coefficients significant at the .01 level for both criteria (PIAT and PRS total score), 2) all items related significantly to the total MSTOI score and to PIAT and PRS total score, 3) the intercorrelations among the various items and subscales were uniformly high. These results may be interpreted as suggested in discussions of the results from the other counties.



Additional evidence of the predictive validity of the MSTOI was observed when MSTOI scores were compared to student grade placement. MSTOI scores in the kindergarten were useful in predicting those students unlikely to make normal progress and were likely to be retained.

The validity coefficients obtained in this study were higher than the ones calculated in the other two counties. In fact, the values are much greater than found with most tests over a two year period. These findings are in part a result of the sampling procedure employed in the study. Caution should be used when attempting to generalize these results to a more typical group.

Results - Combined County

Due to the various testing procedures employed and to the different assessment instruments used, it was not possible to combine the results of all counties. Where it could be justified, results were combined. The combined MSTOI assessment is presented first since it gives statistical data about the instrument with a large number of students. These data are followed by the concurrent validity data for the MSTOI with the other initial assessment instruments. The predictive validity data for the MSTOI and the other initial assessment measures is presented. This is followed by the item analysis data for the combined sample.

The MSTOI was the common initial assessment instrument utilized in all three counties. A total of 1285 MSTOI assessments were administered. Analysis of the data showed a MSTOI mean score of 146.77 with a standard deviation of 21.25. Individual item means and standard deviations for the combined sample are shown in Appendix A, Table V.

As reported earlier, the MSTOI initial assessment means for the



individual counties were: Queen Anne's - 145.13, Wicomico - 149.10, and Cecil - 145.00. A one-way analysis of variance was performed to determine the significance of the difference existing among the means. The resulting F value of 5.72, which was significant at the .01 level, indicated the means were derived from different populations.

Analysis of the follow-up sample (N=695) showed a mean MSTOI value of 147.61 with a standard deviation of 22.25. A t-test was utilized to test for a significant difference between the means of the initial sample and the follow-up sample. A significant difference between means was not found. A one-way analysis of variance was performed to test for significant differences among the three follow-up means of 145.80 for Queen Anne's County, 151.06 for Wicomico, and 136.01 for Cecil County. The resulting F value of 16.88, which was significant at the .01 level, indicated the means were derived from different populations. Concurrent Validity

It was possible to combine the data from Queen Anne's and Wicomico Counties in order to determine the overall concurrent validity coefficients since the MSTOI, CSAB and CBI were administered in both counties. The data for the combined scores for the MSTOI/CSAB distribution are shown in Table 49. The relationship was significant at the .01 level. It is important to note that only 12% scored above the CSAB cutoff score with the greatest proportion of students classified as above the MSTOI cutoff score and below the CSAB cutoff score.



TABLE 49 Distribution Of The Combined Scores For Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Classified By MSTOI Performance And CSAB Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		CSAB Tota	1 Score	
		128 or Greater	Less than 128	Row Total
139 or Greater	N Row % Col. %	72 15 100	402 85 7 5	474 78%
Less than 139	N Row % Col. %	0 0 0	137 100 2 5	137 2 2 %
Column Total	N %	72 12	539 88	611 100

The score distributions for the MSTOI and the CBI are shown in Table 50. The relationship between the score distributions is significant at the .01 level with the majority of the students either above the cutoff score or below the cutoff score on both tests.

TABLE 50 Distribution Of The Combined Scores For Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Classified By MSTOI Performance And CBI Total Scores

MSTOI Total Score		CBI Tota		
		32 or Greater	Less than 32	Row Total
139 or Greater	N Row % Col. %	278 59 95	197 41 61	4 75 77%
Less than 139	N Row % Col. %	13 9 5	127 91 39	140 23%
Column Total	N %	291 4 7	32 4 53	615 100



The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients were calculated to determine the degree of relationship between the MSTOI and the CSAB and CBI. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient for the MSTOI with the CSAB was .65, for the MSTOI with the CBI was .68. Both of these values are significant at the .01 level. For convenience, the individual county values and combined values are summarized in Table 51.

TABLE 51

Concurrent Validity Indices For The MSTOI With The CSAB and CBI for County And Combined Scores

Sample + Comparisons			
	χ2	<u>r</u>	n
Queen Anne's County MSTOI-CSAB MSTOI-CBI	9.26 56.52	.72 .73	227 230
Wicomico County MSTOI-CSAB	11.29 49.68	.75 .67	384 385
Combined Queen Anne's and Wicomico MSTOI-CSAB MSTOI-CBI	22.15 103.21	.73 .68	6 1 1 615

Note: All relationships significant at .01 level.

Predictive Validity

By necessity, predictive validity for combined results was based on Queen Anne's County and Wicomico County data. Cecil County was not included in any combined results because of the sampling method used in that county. In Cecil County, the selection process of the highest and lowest performing students on the MSTOI was used to determine the follow-up sample. This selection procedure resulted in a nonnormal bimodal distribution of scores. Such a distribution, when combined with the other county scores, tends to produce



spuriously high correlations.

In order to determine the predictive validity of the MSTOI with the PRS as criterion for the combined follow-up samples, a contingency table was developed. The distribution of the 616 scores for the MSTOI total scores and the PRS total score for the combined follow-up scores for Queen Anne's and Wicomico Counties are shown in Table 52. A relationship significant at the .01 level was found with 487 of the 616 students similarly classified by both tests.

TABLE 52

Distribution Of The Combined Scores For Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Classified By MSTOI Performance And PRS Total Scores

	PRS Total		
	62 or Greater	Less than 62	Row Total
N	423	53 11	476
Row % Col. %	85	45	77%
N	76	64	140
Row % Col. %	54 15	55	23%
N	499	117	616 100
	Row % Col. % Row % Col. %	N 423 Row % 89 Col. % 85 N 76 Row % 54 Col. % 15 N 499	N 423 53 Row % 89 111 Col. % 85 45 N 76 64 Row % 54 46 Col. % 15 55 N 499 117

Chi-square = 91.82 P < .01 Phi = .39

In order to determine the predictive validity of MSTOI for the combined samples, Pearson Product Moment Correlations were calculated for the MSTOI total scores with the PRS. The results are shown in Table 53. All of the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients indicating the strength of relationship between the MSTOI and the PRS scale and total scores were significant at the .01 level.



TABLE 53

Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients Between MSTOI Total Scores And For The Combined Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=616)

		<u>-</u>	PRS	Subsca	les			
	Auditory Comprehension	Spoken Language	Orientation	Motor Coordination	Personal/Social Behavior	Verbal	Nonverbal	PRS Total
MSTOI Total	.49	.49	.45	.33	.50	.50	.49	.52

Note: All values significant at the .01 level.

Predictive validity of the CSAB and CBI was calculated. A summary of the individual county and combined county results is shown in Table 54. For the combined results, all predictive validity indices were significant at the .01 level. In terms of practical application, there appears to be little difference among the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients indicating the predictive validity of the various tests.

TABLE 54

Predictive Validity Indices For The MSTOI, CSAB, And CBI With The Criterion PRS For County And Combined Sample

Sample + Comparison			
	χ2	r	n
Queen Anne's County			
MSTOI-PRS	31.82	.53	230
CSAB-PRS	5.59*	.58	229
CBI-PRS	36.41	.69	231
Wicomico County			
MSTOI-PRS	46.80	.52	386
CSAB-PRS	8. 36	. 54	385
CBI-PRS	26.05	.45	386
Combined Sample			
MSTOI-PRS	91.82	. 52	616
CSAB-PRS	11.70	. 55	614
CBI-PRS	61.21	.47	617

Note: All unstarred values significant at the

.01 level.

*Significant at the .05 level.



As further indication of the predictive validity of the MSTOI, the relationship between MSTOI scores and student grade placement for the combined samples was examined. The distribution of scores for 615 students in Queen Anne's and Wicomico Counties is shown in Table 55. For this combined sample, a significant relationship at the .01 level was observed. When interpreting this table, the reader should be aware that 3% of the students were retained.

TABLE 55

Distribution Of The Combined Sample Of Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Follow-up Sample Classified By MSTOI Scores And Grade Placement

MSTOI Total Score		Grade P	Grade Placement		
		Grade 1	Grade 2	Row Total	
139 or Greater	N	6	469	475	
199 01 01 00 000	Row %	1	99		
	Col. %	29	79	77%	
Less than 139	N	15	125	140	
Less than 105	Row %	11	89		
	Col. %	71	21	23%	
Column Total	N	21	594	615	
COTUMN TOTAL	%	3	97	100	

Item Analysis

The results of item analysis of the combined Queen Anne's County and Wicomico County MSTOI scores are presented in Table 56. All of the individual items are significantly correlated with the MSTOI subscale and total scores. Their values range from .39 to .80. In addition, the MSTOI subscale scores show a high positive relationship among themselves and with the MSTOI total score.



TABLE 56

Correlation Of Each MSTOI Item With Total MSTOI And Subscale Scores
For The Combined Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Sample (N=616)

MSTOI Item		MST	OI Subso	cale	<u>-</u>	
	Psychomotor	Language	Sensory/ Perception	Cognition	Affect/ Motivation	MSTOI Total
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	.76 .64 .57 .56 .53 .63 .48 .69	.56 .64 .76 .60 .44 .73 .45 .55	.63 .65 .66 .59 .39 .53 .33 .70	.48 .57 .74 .78 .34 .49 .31 .67	.61 .64 .50 .47 .55 .57 .64 .46 .78	.65 .69 .70 .66 .53 .66 .51 .64
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.73 .58 .37 .46 .44 .53 .59 .47	.75 .69 .29 .44 .28 .62 .59 .41	.71 .63 .24 .45 .23 .74 .65 .32 .60	.69 .69 .29 .62 .24 .79 .75 .37	.72 .45 .47 .38 .69 .49 .45 .58	.78 .67 .39 .52 .44 .69 .66 .50
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.51 .43 .61 .73 .49 .51 .56 .59	.50 .28 .61 .76 .33 .53 .46 .83 .39	.67 .29 .43 .73 .35 .65 .46 .67	.51 .26 .41 .67 .33 .72 .45 .67	.43 .67 .43 .75 .70 .46 .75 .55	.58 .45 .53 .80 .51 .62 .61 .74 .48
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Perc Cognition Affect/Motiv		.59 .63 .69 .61 .65 .76 .80	.62 .65 .55 .73 .65 .66 .81	.78 .76 .54 .55 .46 .55 .73 .82 .86	.41 .49 .51 .49 .46 .47 .83 .71 .68	.64 .68 .64 .65 .62 .67 .89 .92 .91

Note: All values significant at the .01 level.



The correlations of the MSTOI items and subscales with the criterion measure, the PRS, are shown in Table 57. Individual MSTOI item correlations ranged from .16 to .54 with the PRS total score. MSTOI subscale correlation coefficients ranged from .43 to .54 with the PRS total score.



TABLE 57

MSTOI Item Analysis Correlation Of Each MSTOI Item For The Combined Queen Anne's County And Wicomico County Sample With The PRS Criterion Measure (N=615)

MSTOI Item	PRS Total
1 2 3 4 5. 6 7 8 9	.43 .45 .39 .28 .29 .37 .23 .28 .41
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	.54 .37 .16 .21 .24 .35 .27 .25 .31
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	.33 .23 .32 .54 .25 .31 .25 .45 .20
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/Perception Cognition Affect/Motivation Total	.29 .35 .31 .39 .46 .47 .50 .53 .51 .43

Note: All correlation coefficients significant at the .01 level.



Discussion

The combined results were based on the Queen Anne's County and Wicomico County data. Cecil County data was not included in any of the combined results due to the sampling procedures employed in the county. In Cecil County the follow-up sample was composed of students that made the highest and lowest MSTOI scores. This selection process resulted in a nonnormal, bimodal distribution of scores. Such a distribution when combined with the other county scores tended to produce spuriously high relationships.

By excluding the Cecil County data, the resulting combined score distribution did not have greater than chance values for kurtosis and skewness. As a result, the assumption was made that the combined scores were normally distributed about the mean. Therefore, based on a normal curve distribution percentage of scores falling below the 139 cutoff, would be 35% or 243 cases. The observed or actual percentage was 26% or 178 cases for this combined sample. Both the expected and the actual percentages were somewhat lower than the 40% figure estimated from earlier studies. Sev ϵ all explanations are possible for such a discrepancy. First, some of the tests were administered as late as January. Since the MSTOI measures aspects of developmental growth, maturation and learning would tend to reduce the proportion falling below the cutoff score. Another explanation to be considered is the possibility of teacher bias in making student evaluations. A subconscious systematic bias may operate to reduce the number of students identified as being special. Finally, the sample studies may not truly represent the state population and therefore the percentage of identified cases should not be compared with the state norm.

The significantly higher MSTOI total for Wicomico County indicated that the overall level of kindergarten student performance



was better than for the other two counties. Although it was not possible to make CSAB comparisons among all three counties, it was possible to compare the CSAB scores for Wicomico and Queen Anne's Counties. Unlike the MSTOI mean score differences noted, the initial CSAB and CBI mean scores showed no significant differences.

The data analysis for the follow-up sample showed that the MSTOI mean scores were not significantly different for the initial and the follow-up samples. Therefore, (with the exception of Cecil County) comments concerning the follow-up sample can be generalized to the initial sample.

The concurrent validity was determined for the MSTOI with the CSAB and the CBI for the combined Queen Anne's and Wicomico Counties sample. Both of the calculated X² values were significant at the .01 level for the more than 600 score samples. The concurrent validity of the MSTOI was assessed further by determining the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients of the MSTOI with the CSAB and the CBI. The substantial correlations of .73 and .68 were interpreted as evidence that the MSTOI was measuring many of the same characteristics of student behavior as the other standardized measures.

The predictive validity of the MSTOI with the PRS as a criterion measure was assessed with the $\rm X^2$ computation was significant at the .01 level. When the predictive validity of the MSTOI was assessed by the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient r value of .52 was obtained. There was no significant difference between the MSTOI correlation coefficient and the correlation coefficients for the CSAB and the CBI.

A significant relationship was shown between the MSTOI scores with student grade placement. This significant relationship was additional evidence of the predictive validity of the MSTOI.



For the combined sample, the item analysis data indicated that all of the individual items had a significant relationship with the MSTOI total scores and with the PRS criterion measure. All subscale scores also were significantly related to the MSTOI and the PRS total score.

SUMMARY

This longitudinal study was undertaken to assess the predictive validity of the MSTOI and other initial assessment instruments. The initial assessments were administered to the children during their kindergarten year. Criterion measures were administered to a sample of these children when they normally would be completing the second grade. In the interim period, no special remediation was done based on the initial test scores. Predictive validity of the MSTOI was determined by examining the relationship between student scores on the initial assessment instruments and scores on the criterion measures.

One of the outcomes of the study was the observation that the MSTOI has predictive validity for identifying students who have potential reading/learning problems. The predictive validity of the MSTOI compared favorably with the other initial assessment instruments. Predictive validity was determined by calculating contingency coefficients as well as by calculating Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients. The contingency tables and the resulting \mathbf{X}^2 indicate a significant relationship between the kindergarten MSTOI rating and the rating several years later. A note of caution: the magnitude of the \mathbf{X}^2 value is related to the cutoff scores employed to dichotomize the score distributions. Cutoff scores, however, are related to school practices, are flexible and are easily changed to identify a particular proportion of the sample. The Pearson



Product Moment Correlation technique was employed to calculate the degree of relationship between variable scores representing an underlying continuum. All Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients indicating the relationship between the MSTOI and the other assessment measures were significant at the .01 level.

In this study, a larger number of MSTOI scores were analyzed than were used in the initial norming study. Data analyzed here gives insight into the percentage of students being detected as needing further testing.

Another outcome of the study was the development of predictive validity data regarding the MSTOI and its relationship with school progress and retention. It was observed that students scoring below the MSTOI cutoff were more likely to be retained in grade than students scoring above the MSTOI cutoff score.

Further, the interrelationship of the MSTOI subscale scores with the MSTOI total score and criterion measures was calculated. MSTOI subscale scores were highly correlated with each other and with the MSTOI total score.

The item analysis of the MSTOI using a comparatively large sample size showed a significant correlation of all items with the total MSTOI score. Thirty-three of the thirty-six items had a correlation of .5 or better.

In addition to the predictive validity, the concurrent validity of the MSTOI was established by examining its relationship to the other initial assessment instruments. χ^2 values and the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients were determined and all calculations were significant at the .01 level.

The favorable showing of the MSTOI in the study affirmed that



teachers rating students with a rating scale can predict student progress as well as some individually administered instruments.

Recommendation for Further Study '

The results from this investigation of the MSTOI answer some questions and suggests others. The following suggestions and recommendations are provided with the hope that there will be optimal utilization of the MSTOI in the EIIP.

Although there was little evidence of teacher misscoring, considerations should be given to simplifying the MSTOI test form. The advantages and disadvantages associated with grouping items of the same subscale together should be investigated. The interpretation sheet could be simplified by eliminating the distinction between student scores of two and three during the observation. Since both the two and three are treated identically for indicating areas of further screening, the current system is unnecessarily complex.

In future studies, it would be advisable to involve the evaluation consultants in the design of the study. Involving the evaluation consultants would simplify the transfer of data to computer format. Machine scoring of MSTOI evaluations should be considered.

Future studies might focus on identifying and evaluating the progress of those students that score above the MSTOI cutoff score, but have a weakness in one or more of the areas of development.

Intensive intervention with such youngsters may be the most effective use of educational resources.

This study investigated the predictive validity of the MSTOI over a two year time span with subjects who were not exposed to intervention procedures. It might be quite instructive to determine



the validity of the MSTOI with students when intervention procedures were available. It would be instructive to determine the reliability of the MSTOI over time utilizing students in school systems that provide intervention procedures.

There is a need to develop information concerning how the MSTOI scores are used by individual teachers for diagnostic purposes, individualizing instruction and as a basis for further testing. Although this study provided information concerning the validity of the MSTOI, it did not attempt to investigate the manner in which MSTOI scores are used or abused.

From a pragmatic point of view, a survey of the successful intervention methods used by teachers in the classrooms would be a small cost/gnod return study. It would be a source of information that could be used by teachers across the state.

A longitudinal study of the relationship between MSTOI score and classroom grades might provide some information not now available when standardized tests are used as the criterion measure.

A descriptive study documenting the proportion of students scoring above the MSTOI cutoff score, broken down by school system and year, could provide some useful information for those planning educational programs.



References

- 1. Curriculum and Evaluation Consultants, <u>The Development and Validation of Screening Instruments for the Early Identification of Learning Disabilities</u>. 197.
- 2. Curriculum and Evaluation Consultants, An Evaluation of the Early Identification and Instructional Project of the Maryland State Department of Education. 197.
- 3. Maryland State Department of Education, <u>Guidelines: Early Identification and Instructional Programming for Learning Problems</u>. 1975.



TABLE A

Means And Standard Deviations Of MSTOI Scores For The Queen Anne's Councy Initial Sample (N=305)

Item No.	Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	3.24 3.44 3.92 4.41 4.11 3.74 4.31 4.27 3.74 4.09	.80 .99 .81 .74 .67 .83 .73 .95 .94
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	3.68 4.31 4.68 4.72 4.27 4.00 4.47 4.37 4.51 3.56	.85 .79 .54 .47 .98 .86 .76 .74
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.53 4.42 4.32 3.45 4.38 4.44 4.19 3.87 4.32 4.10	.90 .78 .80 .96 .76 .65 .80 .86 .63
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/ Perception Cognition Affect/ Motivation MSTOI Total	4.34 4.17 4.50 3.14 3.43 3.31 19.61 35.25 29.71 37.72 44.21 145.13	.89 .73 .64 1.11 1.07 1.08 3.64 7.00



TABLE B

Means And Standard Deviations Of CSAB Scores For The Queen Anne's County Initial Sample (N=305)

Competency Areas	Mean	Standard Deviation
Orientation	37.52	5.62
Coordination	9.70	1.97
Discrimination	26.71	4.60
Memory	31.05	6.88
Comprehension/ Concepts	36.95	7.59
CSAB Total	108.40	17.04

TABLE C

Means And Standard Deviations Of CBI Sccres For The Queen Anne's County Initial Sample (N=308)

Subscale	Mean	Standard Deviation
Task Orientation	14.02	4.93
Extraversion	15.08	4.49
Prone to Frustration	4.23	3.80
Total Score	29.94*	7.54

*Prone to Frustration not included in total.



TABLE D Means And Standard Deviations Of PIAT Scores For The Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=80)

Subtest	Mean	Standard Deviation
Mathematics	30.13	8.56
Reading Recognition	32.56	7.45
Reading Comprehension	31.44	8.02
Spelling	32.95	8.17
General Information	23.54	9.77
Total Test	150.79	33.24

TABLE E ${\bf Means\ And\ Standard\ Deviations\ Of\ The\ PRS\ For\ The}$ Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=236)

		Chandaiad
Subscale	Mean	Standard Deviation
Auditory Comprehension	11.78	3.12
Spoken Language	14.63	3.63
Orientation	12.01	2.72
Motor Coordination	9.10	1.57
Personal/Social Behavior	24.77	5.57
Verbal Score	26.00 ^a	6.83
Nonverbal Score	48.16b	9.72
Total Score	74.16	15.99

aVerbal Score includes auditory comprehension and

spoken language subscale scores.

Nonverbal Score includes orientation, motor
coordination and personal/social behavior subscale 82 scores.



TABLE F

Means And Standard Deviations Of MSTOI
Follow-up Sample for Queen Anne's County (N=230)

Item No.	Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	3.25 3.46 3.93 4.43 4.15 3.73 4.33 4.34 3.77 4.12	.82 1.00 .82 .73 .64 .84 .73 .92 .95
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19	3.70 4.33 4.68 4.73 4.33 4.03 4.50 4.50 4.39 4.54 3.58	.86 .80 .55 .46 .94 .87 .76 .73 .78
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.55 4.47 4.31 3.48 4.40 4.46 4.24 3.88 4.36 4.10	.89 .73 .80 .96 .75 .66 .79 .87
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language Sensory/	4.40 4.22 4.51 3.20 3.46 3.32 19.84 35.51	.85 .70 .64 1.09 1.07 1.09 3.41 6.67
Perception Cognition Affect/ Motivation Total Score	30.11 38.16 44.71 145.80	6.01 6.48 7.30 20.60



TABLE G

Means And Standard Deviations Of CSAB Competency Areas
For The Queen Anne's County Follow-up Sample (N=229)

Competency Areas	Mean	Standard Deviation
Orientation	37.90	5.41
Coordination	9.83	1.93
Discrimination	26.93	4.44
Memory	31.45	6.88
Comprehension/ Loncept	37.40	7.60
CSAB Total	109.64	16.70
CSAR LOTAL	109.04	

TABLE H

Means And Standard Deviations For CBI For Queen Anne's County Follow-up Study (N=230)

Subscores	Mean	Standard Deviation
Task Orientation	14.45	4.80
Extraversion	15.74	4.46
Prone to Frustration	3.92	3.57
Total	30.28*	7.61

*Prone to Frustration not included in total.



TABLE I

Means And Standard Deviations Of MSTOI Scores
For The Wicomico County Initial Sample (N=546)

	_	
Item No.	Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3	3.46 3.59 4.04	.98 .99 .84
2 3 4 5 6	4.60 4.04 3.70	.71 .74 .95
7 8 9 10	4.34 4.68 3.99 4.01	.81 .73 .87 .93
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19	3.86 4.57 4.50 4.74 4.20 4.22 4.63 4.16 4.69 3.82	.84 .65 .69 .54 .97 .91 .71 .91 .75
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.64 4.47 4.42 3.71 4.43 4.48 4.05 3.78 4.12 4.18	.97 .75 .74 .90 .79 .67 .81 .97 .82
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language	4.49 4.37 4.41 3.72 3.48 3.52 20.51 36.00	.86 .82 .74 1.13 1.11 .97 3.45 6.62
Sensory/ Perception Cognition Affect/	31.51 39.27	6.09 6.34
Motivation Total Score	44.93 149.10	7.49 19.95



TABLE J

Means And Standard Deviations Of CSAB Scores
For Wicomico County Initial Sample (N=546)

Competency Areas	Mean	Standard Deviation
Orientation	38.15	5.59
Coordination	9.57	2.17
Discrimination	27.00	4.57
Memory	30.67	6.46
Comprehension/ Concept	36.97	7.89
CSAB Total	108.94	17.55

Note: Subscale total will not equal total since some items appear in more than one subscale.

TABLE K

Means And Standard Deviations Of CBI Scores
For Wicomico County Initial Sample (N=546)

Subscale	Mean	Standard Deviation
Task Orientation	13.92	5.58
Extraversion	1°.37	4.61
Prone to Frustration	6.12*	4.98
Total CBI	28.89	8.64

*Not included in computing total CBI.



TABLE L

Means And Standard Deviations Of PRS Scores
For Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=387)

Subscale	Mean	Standard Deviation
Verbal	28.07	7.27
Nonverbal	47.81	10.53
PRS Total	75.88	16.98



TABLE M

Means And Standard Deviations For MSTOI Scores
For The Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=386)

Item No.	 Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	3.50 3.65 4.10 4.69 4.09 3.77 4.38 4.74 4.06 4.07	.94 .96 .80 .59 .71 .91 .83 .59 .84
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	3.90 4.65 4.56 4.78 4.23 4.29 4.67 4.25 4.76 3.90	.82 .59 .64 .46 .95 .86 .66 .84
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.67 4.52 4.48 3.78 4.47 4.55 4.08 3.82 4.19 4.24	.93 .71 .66 .88 .75 .61 .80 .97 .97
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language	4.54 4.44 4.46 3.78 3.51 3.56 20.98 36.75	.80 .76 .70 1.12 1.11 .96 2.70 5.53
Sensory/ Perception Cognition Affect/ Motivation Total	32.19 40.07 45.86 151.06	5.03 4.86 6.17 18.33



TABLE N

Means And Standard Deviations Of CSAB Scores
For Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=385)

Competency Areas	Mean	Standard Deviation
Orientation	38.64	5.16
Coordination	9.77	1.88
Discrimination	27.45	4.21
Memory	31.28	5.80
Comprehension/ Concept	37.50	7.12
CSAB Total	110.65	15.44

Note: Subscale total will not equal total since some items appear in more than one subscale.

TABLE 0

Means And Standard Deviations Of CBI Scores
For Wicomico County Follow-up Sample (N=386)

Subscale	Mean	Standard Deviation
Task Orientation	14.26	5.31
Extraversion	15.47	4.62
Prone to Frustration	6.01*	4.86
Tota! CBI	29.44	8.28

*Not included in computing total CBI.



TABLE P

Means And Standard Deviations Of MSTOI Scores
For The Cecil County Population (N=435)

MSTOI Item	Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	3.27 3.50 3.79 4.75 4.04 3.48 4.15 4.64 3.84 3.93	.93 .97 .93 .55 .71 .95 .84 .77 .90
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	3.69 4.21 4.25 4.58 4.19 3.98 4.59 4.10 4.64 3.74	.91 .91 .83 .67 .94 .90 .83 .89 .84
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.51 4.50 4.29 3.51 4.58 4.23 4.00 3.80 4.11 4.12	.97 .76 .89 .91 .69 .80 .77 1 .01 .79
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language	4.45 3.98 4.19 3.63 3.67 3.50 20.14 34.81	.97 .95 .91 1.11 1.00 1.10 3.18 7.33
Sensory/ Perception Cognition Affect/ Motivation MSTOI Total	31.01 38.38 44.29 145.00	6.00 6.31 6.85 23.19



TABLE Q

Means And Standard Deviations Of MSSST Scores
For Cecil County Initial Sample (N=88)

Mean	Standard Deviation
17.18	7.75
16.22	6.33
15.23	7.60
48.43	20.68
	17.18 16.22 15.23

TABLE R

Means And Standard Deviations Of PIAT Test Scores
For Cécil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

Item	Mean	Standard Deviation
Mathematics	32.29	11.85
Reading Recognition	34.27	13.02
Reading Comprehension	32.78	12.33
Spelling	33.39	12.51
General Information	28.17	12.52
Total	160.84	58.45

TABLE S

Means And Standard Deviations Of PRS Scores
For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

Item	Mean	Standard Deviation
Auditory Comprehension	12.87	4.49
Spoken Language	15.80	5.47
Orientation	13.59	3 20
Motor Coordination	10.39	2.79
Personal/Social Behavior	26.85	7.31
Verbal Subtotal	28.67	9.79
Nonverbal Subtotal	50.71	13.40
Total	79.38	22.40



TABLE T

Means And Standard Deviations Of MSTOI Scores
For The Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

Item No.	Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	3.11 3.23 3.58 4.54 3.92 3.27 3.92 4.14 3.56 3.62	1.27 1.45 1.31 .84 .84 1.30 1.09 1.13 1.21
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	3.48 4.03 4.09 4.44 4.20 3.67 4.30 3.89 4.11 3.49	1.27 1.25 1.04 .90 .94 1.26 1.16 1.18 1.34
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.33 4.43 3.99 3.24 4.44 4.09 3.92 3.49 4.01 3.97	1.35 .84 1.21 1.23 .87 1.09 .84 1.41 .99
31 32 33 34 35 36 Psychomotor Language	3.97 3.72 3.82 3.37 3.39 3.20 18.81 32.48	1.48 1.39 1.29 1.46 1.41 1.49 4.73
Sensory/ Perception Cognition Affect/ Motivation MSTOI Total	22.07 35.83 42.42 136.01	8.67 9.42 9.12 36.01



TABLE U

Means And Standard Deviations Of The MSSST
Scores For Cecil County Follow-up Sample (N=79)

Subscale	Mean	Standard Deviation
Motor Patterning	14.47	9.36
Visual/Perceptual Motor	13.58	7.97
Language	12.73	8.76
MSSST Total	40.77	25.13



TABLE VMeans And Standard Deviations Of MSTOI Scores
For The Combined County.Initial Sample (N=1285)

Item No.	- Mean	Standard Deviation
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	3.34 3.52 4.93 4.61 4.06 3.63 4.27 4.57 3.88 4.00	.93 .99 .87 .68 .72 .93 .81 .82 .90
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20	3.76 4.39 4.46 4.68 4.21 4.09 4.57 4.19 4.63 3.73	.87 .79 .73 .58 .96 .90 .77 .87 .80
21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	3.57 4.47 4.35 3.58 4.47 4.39 4.06 3.81 4.17	.95 .76 .81 .93 .75 .72 .80 .96 .77
31 32 33 34 35 36 Total	4.44 4.19 4.36 3.55 3.53 3.47 146.77	.90 .86 .79 1.14 1.07 1.04 21.25



APPENDIX B



Description Of Assessment Instruments

The five initial assessments used were the Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument (MSTOI), the Classroom Behavior Inventory (CBI), the Self-Control Behavior Inventory (SCBI), the Cognitive Skills Assessment Battery (CSAB), and the Meeting Street School Screening Test (MSSST). The first three are teacher rating scales requiring teacher observation and no student responses. The last two require student responses. A brief description of each initial assessment follows.

Maryland Systematic Teacher Observation Instrument. Each child is assessed on the 36 items of the observation instrument. Each behavior is rated on a scale frequently, often, sometime, seldom, or never. Numerical scores range from one to five per item with a possible maximum total score of 180. Individual items are grouped under five subscales: psychomotor (3 items), sensory perception (8 items), language (9 items), cognition (9 items), and affect motivation (14 items). Several items are included under more than one subscale. Students with a total score of less than 139 were designated as being high risk students having potential reading/learning problems. This instrument was developed by the Maryland State Department of Education in cooperation with local learning agencies. Classroom Behavior Inventory. The child is assessed on the 15 items that constitute this inventory. Each item is evaluated as belonging to one of seven categories: never, almost never, occasionally, half the time, frequently, almost always, or always. Numerical values of 0, 1, 2, 3, or 4 are assigned to these categories by equating the zero value to never and almost never while the two highest categories almost always and always are given in numerical value of four. Maximum



score is 60. Individual items are grouped into three subscales: task orientation, extraversion, and prone to frustration. Only the first two categories are included in computing the total score. For this study the cutoff score of 32 was established. Any student scoring less than 32 was identified as having potential learning/reading problems. This instrument was developed by Schaefer, Aaronson, and Small of the Montgomery County Public School System, Rockville, Maryland.

Self-Control Behavior Inventory. Each child is assessed with the

eight items on this inventory. Each item is scored as rarely does, sometimes does, usually does, and almost always does. Numerical scoring of the items ranges from zero to three. Maximum test score is 24. For this study, a cutoff score of 15 was utilized. Any student having a total score of less than 15 was identified as having potential learning/reading problems. The test is available from . Psychoeducational Resources, Inc. in Washington, D. C. Cognitive Skills Assessment Battery. An individually administered battery requiring 20-25 minutes to administer. Information concerning the child's abilities in the five competency areas of orientation toward and familiarity with one's environment, coordination, discrimination, memory and comprehension and concept formation are determined. Items and competency areas were developed following examination of curricula currently followed, teacher interviews, and research in areas of primary school skills. Although the test developers did not provide a mathematics total score, one was used in this study. A previously developed scoring system, established a maximum score of 150 for the battery. A cutoff score of 128 was established to potential learning/reading identify high risk students that have t Battery was developed by problem. The Cognitive Skills Assess



Ann E. Boehm and Barbara Slater. The battery is available from the Teachers College Press, Columbia University.

Meeting Street School Screening Test. This is an individually administered screening test developed to identify children that may have learning disabilities. The test requires approximately 15-20 minutes to administer. Three subtests compromise the test: motor patterning, visual/percentual/motor and language subtests. Alidity data are included in the annual where the relationship of M ST to Illinois Test of Psycholinguistic Abilities and the Frosti Developmental Tests of Visual Percention is presented. The test was normed in 220 kinnesser ten and 274 first grade youngsters. The test is published by the Meeting Street School, Providence Rhode Island.

Individual Acres and Test (PIAT and the Pupil Rating Scale (PRS).

The former is an ing virtually admisters; test, and the latter is a group test.

Peabody Individual amendation. This is a wice-range screening in the areas of mathematics, reading, spelling management information. This individual administered untimed test usually require and minutes to administer and to score the battery. The subtests are designed so that no academic skills are required other than those specifically being measured. No writing is required of the subject. The coring is completely objective. The PIAT, copyrighted in 19 % is available from the American Guidance Services, Inc.

Pupil Rating Scale. This rating scale developed on the hypothest that if areas of deficit are carefully defined and delineated, they can be observed and rated by regular classroom teachers who are in close contact with children. The classroom teachers observe and rate of ildren in the five behavior areas: auditory commerchension, spoken language, ordentation, motor coordination, and personal/social behavior. The twenty-four term rating scale is comstructed in a namer such that each behavior is ranked on a one to five scale. It tall and subscale scores are calculated. The PRS was appyrighted in 1971 and is available from Grusse and Stratton. Inc.



APPENDIX C



Technical Notes

When confronted with a data analysis problem, the analyst must decide which statistical procedures should be utilized. The decision is based on the quality and quantity of the data. For this study, the χ^2 , Phi coefficient and the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient were the principal statistical techniques employed. The data developed enabled the evaluators to make inferences about the probability that observed differences or relationships were due to factors other than chance.

The X^2 technique is most commonly used as either a test of relationship or as a goodness of fit test. The goodness of fit approach assumes some theoretical score distribution such as a normal curve. A significant x^2 value indicates that the observed distribution does not fit the theoretical distribution. The x^2 used as a test of relationship tests the null hypothesis of no relationship between two variables. A significant x^2 value allows one to infer that there is a significant relationship between the variables under study. The latter approach appeared to be better suited to the needs of this study. When x^2 is used as a test of statistical significance it tests for the existence of a systematic relationship between two variables.

The X² technique most frequently used in this study was the X² corrected for continuity. This correction is especially appropriate when analyzing a 2 x 2 contingency table with N greater than 40. It also has the "advantage of incorporating a correction for continuity which markedly improves the approximation of the distribution of the computed X² to the chi-square distribution." (Siegel) When the sample is very large, even miniscule deviations will generate a statistically significant chi-square. This is because larger samples are much more likely to approximate the true relationship in the



universe. In the oth or mand, a small sample is much more likely to contain a sproportformat number of atypical cases.

under strong, then any mentations from the expected values which occur in a table based on condensity selected sample data are due to chance.

While some small device on reasonably can be expected due to chance.

Large deviations. Large values of chi-square, are unlikely.

Since the actual rectionships in the universe are unknown, small values of X2 are incorrected to indicate the absence of a relation—

show often to as statistical independence. Conversely, and the chi-square in the wariables.

Whether the variety is are independent or related. It does not indicate the trager of the relationship. The magnitude of the χ^2 influenced of the factors sample size and contingence table configuration. A matistical technique which adjusts for these factors is put.

For a 2×2 to les, the phi statistic is a suitable measure of association, i.e. a measure of strength of relationshit. Phi makes a correction for the fact that the value of chi-square is directly presentional to the number of cases N by adjusting the χ^2 . Phi and on the value of 0 when no relationship exists, and the value of when the variables are perfectly related, i.e. all cases fall just on the main or the minor diagonal.

The Pearson Product Moment Correlation provides a single number which summarizes the relationship between two variables. These



correlation coefficients indicate the degree to wanter variation (or change) in one variable is related to variation (thange) in another. A correlation coefficient not only summarizes the strength of association between a pair of variables, but also provides an easy means for comparing the strength of relationship between one pair of variables and a different pair. Of course, this technique is limited to interval and ratio level variables.

Statistical Procedures and Computer Programs

The evaluation consultants amonoyed the "Statistical Package for the Social Sciences" (SPSS) as the source of the computer programs needed to any vize the data. SPSS is an integrated system of computer programs designed for the analysis of the tatalysis of the social sciences. It provides the graph number of statistical routines and a good system for data transfer mation and file manipulations. The SPSS package provides it is as alle and convenient manner a comprehensive package that allow the essearcher to utilize many different types of data analysis including chi-square analysis of variance, correlations and these. This package is one is the most widely used packages of statistical procedures used in the country.



Selected Bibliography

- 1. Bruning, James L. and Kintz, B. L. Computational Handbook of Statistics. Atlanta: Scott, Foresman. 1968.
- 2. Cronbach, L. J. <u>Essentials of Psychological Testing</u>. 3rd Edition. New York: Harper & Row. 1970.
- 3. Guilford, Joy Paul and Fructer, Benjamin. Fundamental Statistics in Psychology and Education. McGraw-Hill. 1963.
- 4. Harshbarger, Thad R. Introductory Statistics: A lecision Map.
 New York: MacMillan. 1977.
- 5. Kerlinger, Fred N. Foundations of Behavioral Research. 2nd Edition. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston. 1973.
- 6. Nie and others. <u>Statistical Package for the Social Sciences</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill. 1975.
- 7. Nunnally, Jim C. <u>Psychometric Theory</u>. New York: McGraw-Hill. 1967.
- 8. Siegel, Sidmey. Nonparametric Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences. New York: McGraw-Hill. 1956.
- 9. Thorndike, Robert L. and Hagen, Elizabeth P. Messurement and Evaluation in Psychology and Education. 4th Edition. New York: Joan Wiley & Sons. 1977.

